
 

 

 
6 December 2022 

 

Worthing Planning Committee 
 

Date: 
 

14 December 2022 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

Gordon Room, Worthing Town Hall 
 

Committee Membership: Councillors Jim Deen (Chair), John Turley (Vice-Chair), 
Noel Atkins, Russ Cochran, Dan Coxhill, Helen Silman, Emma Taylor and Andy Whight 

 
NOTE: 
Anyone wishing to speak at this meeting on a planning application before the Committee 
should register by telephone (01903 221006) or e-mail democratic.services@adur-
worthing.gov.uk  before midday on Tuesday 13th December 2022. 
 

Agenda 
Part A 
  
1. Substitute Members   
 
 Any substitute members should declare their substitution. 

  
2. Declarations of Interest   
 Members and Officers must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in 

relation to any business on the agenda.  Declarations should also be made at any 
stage such as interest becomes apparent during the meeting. 
  
If in doubt contact the Legal or Democratic Services representative for this 
meeting. 
  
Members and Officers may seek advice upon any relevant interest from the 
Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting. 
 
 
  

Public Document Pack

mailto:heather.kingston@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:heather.kingston@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

 

3. Public Question Time   
 
 So as to provide the best opportunity for the Committee to provide the public with 

the fullest answer, questions from the public should be submitted by midday on 
Friday 9th December 2022. 
  
Where relevant notice of a question has not been given, the person presiding 
may either choose to give a response at the meeting or respond by undertaking 
to provide a written response within three working days. 
  
Questions should be submitted to Democratic Services – 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk 
  
(Note:  Public Question Time will last for a maximum of 30 minutes). 
    

4. Members Questions   
 
 Pre-submitted Members questions are pursuant to rule 12 of the Council & 

Committee Procedure Rules.  
 
Questions should be submitted by midday on Friday 9 December 2022 to 
Democratic Services, democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk  
    
(Note: Member Question Time will operate for a maximum of 30 minutes.) 
  

5. Confirmation of Minutes   
 
 To approve the minutes of the Planning Committee meetings of the Committee 

held on Wednesday 16th November 2022, which have been emailed to Members. 
  

6. Items Raised Under Urgency Provisions   
 
 To consider any items the Chair of the meeting considers urgent.  

  
7. Planning Applications  (Pages 5 - 78) 
 
 To consider the reports by the Director for the Economy, attached as Item 7. 

  
8. GlaxoSmithKline, Southdownview Road,  Worthing  (Pages 79 - 86) 
 
 To consider a Report by the Director for Economy, attached as item 8. 

  
9. Worthing Tree Preservation Order  (Pages 87 - 92) 
 
 To consider a Worthing Tree Preservation Order, Number 6 of 2022, attached as 

item 9. 
  

10. Worthing Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021-2022  (Pages 93 - 142) 
 
 To note a report by the Director for Economy, attached as item 10. 

 
Part B - Not for publication - Exempt Information Reports 

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

 

 
None. 
 
 
Recording of this meeting  
Please note that this meeting is being live streamed and a recording of the meeting will 
be available on the Council’s website. This meeting will remain on our website for one 
year and will be deleted after that period.  The Council will not be recording any 
discussions in Part B of the agenda (where the press and public have been excluded). 

For Democratic Services enquiries relating 
to this meeting please contact: 

For Legal Services enquiries relating to 
this meeting please contact: 

Katy McMullan 
Democratic Services Officer 
01903 221006 
Katy.mcmullan@adur-worthing.gov.uk  

Caroline Perry 
Senior Lawyer & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
01903 221081 
Caroline.perry@adur-worthing.gov.uk   

 
Duration of the Meeting:  Three hours after the commencement of the meeting the 
Chairperson will adjourn the meeting to consider if it wishes to continue.  A vote will be 
taken and a simple majority in favour will be necessary for the meeting to continue. 

mailto:Katy.mcmullan@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.perry@adur-worthing.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
14 December 2022

Agenda Item 7

Ward: ALL

Key Decision: Yes / No

Report by the Director for Economy

Planning Applications

1
Application Number:   NOTICE/0019/22 Recommendation – Prior Approval

Required and Granted

Site: Carnegie House, Littlehampton Road, Worthing, West Sussex

Proposal: Application for Prior Approval for construction of one additional storey
of 9no. 1 bedroom apartments and 6 no. 2 bedroom apartments
immediately above the existing detached block of flats.

2
Application Number:   AWDM/0056/22 Recommendation – Delegate to Head of

Planning and Development to APPROVE
subject to further comments

Site: Former EDF Car Park, Southdownview Road, Worthing

Proposal: Construction of 3no. buildings providing 11no. light industrial units
(Class E(g)) with associated car parking, landscaping and acoustic
fence to north side of access road.

5

Agenda Item 7



3
Application Number:   AWDM/1433/22 Recommendation – APPROVE

Site: Tesco Supermarket Former West Durrington Shopping Centre, New
Road, Worthing

Proposal: Variation of Condition 9 of WB/05/0245/OUT and Condition 5 of
WB/09/0146/ARM to allow an additional delivery to the Tesco store
between the hours of 11pm and 6am on a permanent basis. Application
for variation of conditions 3, 4 and 7 of planning permission ref.
AWDM/1568/17 to allow an additional night time delivery and extended
operational hours for the home shopping facility at their store at West
Durrington (both associated with the installation of an Urban Fulfilment
Centre at the store).
Variation of condition 3 to read: Notwithstanding the wording of
condition 2, two deliveries shall be allowed between the hours of 23:00
hours and 06:00 hours Monday to Sunday.
Variation of condition 4 to read: Loading, unloading, dispatch,
deliveries, collections or vehicle movements associated with Dotcom
deliveries shall only be undertaken between the hours of 05:45 hours
and 23:00 hours on any day and the cooling process in relation to the
Dotcom vehicles shall only be undertaken between the hours of 05:00
hours and 23:00 hours on any day.
Variation of Condition 7 to read: The premises shall not be open to the
public for trade of business except between the hours of 06:00 hours
and 00:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 10:00 hours and 18:00
hours on Sundays.

4
Application Number:   AWDM/1554/21 Recommendation – To delegate to the

Head of Planning to APPROVE subject to
the completion of a s106 agreement

Site: 19 Manor Road, Worthing, West Sussex, BN11 3RT

Proposal: Application to Vary Condition 1 of previously approved AWDM/0762/19.
Amendments: position of lift shaft, reconstructed wall in fair face brick
along Manor Road, refuse/recycle store relocated, alterations to
approved balconies and new feature stone frame around window on
south eastern corner. Proposed Car Port over 6no parking spaces,
photovoltaic panels and electric car charging points

6



1
Application Number: NOTICE/0019/22 Recommendation - Prior Approval

Required and Granted

Site: Carnegie House, Littlehampton Road, Worthing, West
Sussex

Proposal: Application for Prior Approval for construction of one
additional storey of 9 no. 1 bedroom apartments and 6
no. 2 bedroom apartments immediately above the
existing detached block of flats.

Applicant: Mr Bradburn Ward:Salvington
Agent: Mr Wong
Case Officer: Jackie Fox

Not to Scale
Reproduced from OS Mapping with the permission of HMSO © Crown Copyright Licence number LA100024321

7



This application has been brought to Committee at the request of Councillor Nowak.
The determination for the application is the 15th December 2022.

Site and Surroundings

The site is at Carnegie House on the north side of Littlehampton Road. The proposed
site boundaries cover an area of 0.429Ha (4,290m²).

The site comprises two 3 storey 1960’s / 70’s style flat roof apartments with a central
vehicular access. It consists of a total of 48 1 and 2 bed flats. The existing building is
faced in a varying shaded buff brick with white cladding with white UPVC windows with
a glass screen balustrades to the balconies which project forward faced with buff brick.

Externally there is a hard landscaped tarmac area to the rear of the site which is used
for parking. This is accessible via the central access road. The parking is a mix of
garages and open spaces. The application estimates that there are currently 50 car
parking spaces, 20 of which are garages and allocated to units. This leaves 30
unallocated spaces between the remaining 25 flats. To the frontage the site is mainly
laid to grass with some planting.

The surrounding area is mainly residential of 2-storey, 2.5-storey, 3- storey flats and
houses with varying roof forms. Immediately to the east is the contemporary
‘Sainsburys Local’ with residential to the rear which is part single storey and part two
storey.

Proposal

This is an application under the second schedule of the General Permitted
Development Order, introduced by the The Town and Country Planning (Permitted
Development and Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) (Coronavirus) Regulations
2020, extending permitted development rights.

Class A of Part 20 consists of works for the construction of up to two additional storeys
on existing dwellinghouses and on purpose built detached blocks of flats, together with
engineering operations reasonably necessary to construct the additional storeys and
new flats, replacement and new roof plant that is reasonably necessary to service the
new flats, works for the safe access/egress to the new and existing flats, and any works
for the construction of storage, waste or other ancillary facilities reasonably necessary
to support the new flats, subject to the limitations of Part 20 and conditions as set out
below in this assessment.

This application seeks prior approval for the construction of one additional storey to
blocks A and B to provide fifteen flats in two new fourth floors. Block A (eastern block)
would comprise 3 x 1 bedroom units and 3 x 2 bedroom units. Block B would comprise
6 x 1 bedroom units and 3 x 2 bedroom units. The application includes provision for a
cycle store to the east of block A.

8



The additional storey would have a flat roof and the extended building would measure
up to 11.1 metres in height from ground level, representing an increase in height of
approx 2.6m over the existing 8.6 metre high building as detailed on the elevation
drawings. The extension would largely cover the existing footprint of the building. The
additional storey would be in grey cladding with food to ceiling windows in grey
vertically above the existing windows and balconies. The brickwork above the entrance
and stairway would be continued with matching brick.

The application includes a Design Statement which concludes that ‘The sympathetic
extension revitalises these existing buildings and provides 15 new dwellings that meet
the current standards of living with a contemporary design approach providing synergy
between the new and existing elements of the build.

Relevant Planning History

9



None

Consultations

WSCC Highways

West Sussex County Council (WSCC), in its capacity as Local Highway Authority
(LHA), have been consulted on the above Prior Notification application with regards to
any highway safety or capacity concerns. The application is supported by way of a
Design Statement (DS).

The application site is located along A2032 Littlehampton Road, Worthing and
comprises two 3-storey apartment blocks known as ‘Carnegie House’. The apartment
blocks contain a total of 45 nos. flats with a mix of 21 nos. 2-bedroom flats and 24 nos.
1-bedroom flats. The development proposals are for the construction of single storey
vertical extension to the two blocks to form additional 15 flats of which 9 nos are
1-bedroom flats and 6 nos. are 2-bedroom flats.

The application is for ‘Prior Approval - Construction of New Dwelling Houses’, this is
under the new Permitted Development right (Class AB of Part 20) to allow buildings in a
terrace (of 2 or more attached buildings) in commercial or mixed use to create up to two
additional storeys for use as flats. As such the applicant is required to submit
information relating to ‘transport and highways impact of the development’.

The application site gains access from an established access from A2032 Littlehampton
Road. The site access arrangements will be retained for the proposed uses which takes
the form of a simple vehicle crossover junction leading into the rear car parking area.
WSCC maps have been checked for visibility splays along both sides of A2032
Littlehampton Road, which is good for the posted speed limit of 30 miles an hour. An
inspection of data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of last five years
reveals that there have been two incidents of personal injury which are attributed to
driver errors. This indicates the site access has been operating in a safe manner in its
present form.

A2032 Littlehampton Road is well lit with footways along both sides of the road which
connects onto a wider footway network. Bus stops are located along A2032
Littlehampton Road within approx. 100 metre distance which provide services to
Worthing town and nearby places. West Worthing Train Station is located within approx.
2 kilometres to the south of the site providing connectivity to Brighton, London Victoria,
Littlehampton, Southampton, Chichester etc. Therefore, the site is considered
sustainable.

The parking is a mix of garages and open spaces. The existing 45 residential units are
served by approx. 50 car parking spaces: 20 spaces within garages and 30 allocated
spaces. The proposed extension does not include additional parking spaces which

10



brings the parking ratio at 0.83 per unit. This level of parking provision is considered
adequate given the site is in a sustainable location.

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) does not consider that this proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraphs 110 -113, as revised 20th July 2021. Therefore,
there are no transport grounds to resist this proposal.

West Sussex Fire and Access

Having viewed the plans for the planning application no. NOTICE/0019/22 for the Prior
Approval for construction of one additional storey of 9no. 1 bedroom apartments and 6
no. 2 bedroom apartments immediately above the existing detached block of flats,
evidence is required to show that all points inside all flats are within 45 metres of a fire
appliance in accordance with Approved Document B Volume 1 2019 Edition B5 section
13. This is to be measured along the hose lay route, not in a direct line or arc
measurement. Any areas not within the 45 metre distance will need to be mitigated by
the installation of domestic sprinkler or water mist systems complying with BS9251 or
BS8458 standard.

Southern Water:

Further to your recent prior approval request for the above site, Southern Water have
the following observations to make in respect of the proposed development:

- Southern Water’s records show that there is water main within the proposed
development site.

- No development, excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 6
metres of the public water main without consent from Southern Water.

- Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul and
surface water sewer to be made by the applicant or developer.

- In situations where surface water is being considered for discharge to our network, we
require the below hierarchy for surface water to be followed which is reflected in part H3
of the Building Regulations.

- Reuse
- Infiltration
- Watercourse
- Storm Sewer
- Combined Sewer

Guidance on Building Regulations is here:
gov.uk/government/publications/drainage-and-waste-disposal-approved-document-h

11



- It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the
development site.
Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation
of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works
commence on site.

- Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public water
main to be made by the applicant or developer.

For further advice, please contact Southern Water, Southern House, Yeoman Road,
Worthing, West Sussex, BN13 3NX (Tel: 0330 303 0119).
Website: southernwater.co.uk or by email at:
SouthernWaterPlanning@southernwater.co.uk

Adur and Worthing Councils

Environmental Health (Public Health)

Please can we have a Construction Management Plan condition to include resident
liaison and hours of operation, amongst other things.

Suggested conditions:

Hours of Construction

Works of construction or demolition, including the use of plant and machinery,
necessary for implementation of this consent shall be limited to the following times.

Monday - Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Hours, Saturday 09:00 - 13:00 Hours, Sundays and
Bank Holidays no work permitted

Any temporary exception to these working hours shall be agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority at least five days in advance of works commencing. The contractor
shall notify the local residents in writing at least three days before any such works.

Construction Management Plan

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented and adhered to
throughout the entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate
but not necessarily be restricted to the following matters:

12



- the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction
- HGV construction traffic routings shall be designed to minimise journey distance

through the AQMA's.
- the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
- the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
- the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
- the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
- the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
- a commitment to no burning on site,
- the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the

impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders),

- details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works,
- methods to control dust from the site.

Public Sector Housing

Some of the units fall below the 39sq.m GIA required for 1b/1p in the national technical
space standards and there is a slightly anomalous 'study' in Unit 5, Block A , which will
clearly be a bedroom and this unit will be far below the 61 sq.m required for a 2b/3p flat.

Other than that, no objections in principle on PSH grounds

Representations (summarised)

47 Cuckfield Crescent

● Additional waste
● Additional overlooking
● Additional noise
● Anti social behaviour

49 Cuckfield Crescent

● Loss of amenity to a single story property
● Extensive overshadowing;
● Loss of daylight and outlook to habitable room windows;
● Overbearing impact;
● Increased sense of overlooking and loss of privacy;
● Increase in noise and disturbance
● Impact on the character of the area which is predominantly two storey
● Poor quality design, incongruous and poorly related to surrounding development
● Increased traffic
● Inadequate parking

13



7, 8, 11, 13, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 29, 30, 32, 34, 37, 42, 44, 48 Carnegie House

● Inadequate parking
● Inadequate waste facilities
● Disruption during construction
● Additional noise
● reduced value of the property
● Inadequate drainage
● Inadequate parking
● Additional neighbours above
● Out of character with the area
● Increased traffic
● Cause Fire safety
● Health and safety during construction
● Inadequate maintenance of the property.
● Existing tight entrance
● Cause an unsafe environment
● Inadequate foundations and amenities
● Loss of daylight and sunlight
● The new bin area would cause disturbance and smells
● Restrictions on height
● Increased noise and dust
● Storage of materials
● The building is unsuitable
● Water pressure is inadequate
● loss of daylight to the car park
● Difficult for fire engines due to the parking and system is inadequate
● Intercom system is inadequate
● Loss of privacy
● Noise, dust and vibration during construction
● Overlooking of Cuckfield Crescent
● Noise and disturbance during construction
● Overdevelopment of the site
● Structure of the building and utilities
● Disturbance and damage to the property and cars
● Inadequate parking for residents and construction vehicles
● Health and safety implications due to dust and dirt, scaffolding
● Loss of a peaceful top floor flat
● Inaccurate plans Plan 204

45 Littlehampton Road

● Loss of privacy
● overdevelopment
● Additional traffic, dangerous access
● Value of the property

14



49 Ashurst Way Littlehampton

● Lack of parking
● Loss of a top floor flat

Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Worthing Core Strategy 2006-2026 (WBC 2011): Policies 7, 8, 9, 16, 17, 19

Worthing Local Plan (WBC 2003) (saved policies): RES7, H18, TR9

SPD ‘Guide to Residential Development’ Nov 2013

Revised National Planning Policy Framework (HCLG 2021)

National Planning Practice Guidance (CLG)

Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan (as modified). Due to be adopted on the
13th December Council Meeting.

Policy DM1: Housing Mix

Policy DM2 – Density

DM5 - Quality of the Built Environment

DM16 - Sustainable Design

DM22 - Pollution

Relevant Legislation

The Committee should consider the planning application in accordance with: Section 70
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) that provides the application
may be granted either unconditionally or subject to relevant conditions, or refused.
Regard shall be given to relevant development plan policies, any relevant local finance
considerations, and other material considerations; and Section 38(6) Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that requires the decision to be made in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning Assessment

The application is made under the Prior Approval procedure and the consideration is
restricted to the limitations, restrictions and conditions set out in respect of Class A,
Part 20, Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 as amended
which states:

Permitted development

15



A. Development consisting of works for the construction of up to two additional storeys
of new dwellinghouses immediately above the existing topmost residential storey on a
building which is a purpose-built, detached block of flats, together with any or all —

(a) engineering operations reasonably necessary to construct the additional storeys and
new dwellinghouses;

(b) works for the replacement of existing plant or installation of additional plant on the
roof of the extended building reasonably necessary to service the new dwellings.

(c) works for the construction of appropriate and safe access and egress to the new
and existing dwellinghouses, including means of escape from fire, via additional
external doors or external staircases;

(d) works for the construction of storage, waste or other ancillary facilities reasonably
necessary to support the new dwellinghouses.

Development not permitted

A.1. Development is not permitted by Class A if—
(a) the permission to use any building as a dwellinghouse has been granted only by

virtue of Class M, N, O, P, PA or Q of Part 3 of this Schedule;
(b) above ground level, the building is less than 3 storeys in height;
(c) the building was constructed before 1st July 1948, or after 5th March 2018;
(d) the additional storeys are constructed other than on the principal part of the

building;
(e) the floor to ceiling height of any additional storey is—

(i) more than 3 metres in height; or
(ii) more than the floor to ceiling height of any of the existing storeys, whichever

is the lesser, where such heights are measured internally;
(f) the new dwellinghouses are not flats;
(g) the overall height of the roof of the extended building would be greater than 7

metres higher than the highest part of the existing roof (not including existing
plant);

(h) the extended building (not including plant) would be greater than 30 metres in
height;

(i) development under Class A.(a) would include the provision of visible support
structures on or attached to the exterior of the building upon completion of the
development;

(j) development under Class A.(a) would consist of engineering operations other than
works within the existing curtilage of the building to—
(i) strengthen existing walls;
(ii) strengthen existing foundations; or
(iii) install or replace water, drainage, electricity, gas or other services;

(k) in the case of Class A.(b) development there is no existing plant on the building;
(l) in the case of Class A.(b) development the height of any replaced or additional

plant as measured from the lowest surface of the new roof on the principal part of

16



the new building would exceed the height of any existing plant as measured from
the lowest surface of the existing roof on the principal part of the existing building;

(m) development under Class A.(c) would extend beyond the curtilage of the existing
building;

(n) development under Class A.(d) would—
(i) extend beyond the curtilage of the existing building;
(ii) be situated on land forward of a wall forming the principal elevation of the

existing building; or
(iii) be situated on land forward of a wall fronting a highway and forming a side

elevation of the existing building;
(o) the land or site on which the building is located, is or forms part of —

(i) article 2(3) land;
(ii) a site of special scientific interest;
(iii) a listed building or land within its curtilage;
(iv) a scheduled monument or land within its curtilage;
(v) a safety hazard area;
(vi) a military explosives storage area; or
(vii) land within 3 kilometres of the perimeter of an aerodrome.

Consideration of the planning merits of the application is restricted solely to
those set out in the conditions of A.2 as set out below:

(1) Where any development under Class A is proposed, development is permitted
subject to the condition that before beginning the development, the developer must
apply to the local planning authority for prior approval of the authority as to—

(a) transport and highways impacts of the development;
(b) air traffic and defence asset impacts of the development;
(c) contamination risks in relation to the building;
(d) flooding risks in relation to the building;
(e) the external appearance of the building;
(f) the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new dwelling

houses;
(g) impact on the amenity of the existing building and neighbouring premises

including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; and
(h) whether because of the siting of the building, the development will impact on a

protected view identified in the Directions Relating to Protected Vistas dated 15
March 2012(1) issued by the Secretary of State,

(i) where the existing building is 18 metres or more in height, the fire safety of the
external wall construction of the existing building,] and

(j) where the development meets the fire risk condition, the fire safety impacts on
the intended occupants of the building]

and the provisions of paragraph B (prior approval) of this Part apply in relation to that
application.

17



Assessment against the legislation

The starting point for consideration of the proposal is whether it can lawfully take
advantage of the procedures under Class A

The property is a 1960/70s purpose built three storey flat block.

The proposed extension would be flats, on the principal part of the buildings, no more
than 3m in height, no more than the floor to ceiling height of any existing storey, no
more than 7m higher than the existing building, additional supporting structure would be
internal and there is no additional plant. The building would be a vertical extension
within the footprint of the existing building.

The building is not on article 2(3) land or within an SSSI, a Listed building, a Scheduled
Monument, within a safety hazard area, a military explosives area, or within 3
kilometres of the perimeter of an aerodrome.

Consideration of the planning merits of the proposal is restricted to those
matters set out in A 1.

Paragraph B includes the requirement for the LPA to have regard to the National
Planning Policy Framework so far is relevant to the subject matter of the prior approval,
as if the application were a planning application.

(a) Transport and highways Impacts

A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application.

The site is sustainably located within easy walking distance of the various shops and
services and with good public transport links to other parts of the town and destinations
further afield.

The application shows parking to the rear comprising 20 garages (which are allocated)
and 30 open parking spaces. The open parking equates to approx 1.2 spaces for the
remaining existing 25 flats. No additional parking is proposed although a cycle storage
area is proposed.

Local residents have raised concerns that the parking is not adequate for the site as
existing and additional units would add to concerns. However in view of the sustainable
location, it is not considered that the proposal could be refused on this basis.

The LHA have not raised concerns indicating that the car parking provision is at a ratio
at 0.83 per unit. This level of parking provision is considered adequate given the site is
in a sustainable location.

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) does not consider that this proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the

18



operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraphs 110 -113, as revised 20th July 2021. Therefore,
there are no transport grounds to resist this proposal.

The proposal includes two additional bin stores. Advice was taken by the applicant from
Adur & Worthing Councils to calculate the amount of additional refuse storage required
for the new units. An additional 1100l bin for refuse and an extra 1100l bin for recycling
was stated to be adequate for the new development. Refuse collection would be carried
out as existing. The applicant has indicated that they would be willing to provide
additional bin storage if necessary.

A condition requiring details of refuse and cycle storage to be provided is considered
appropriate.

(b) Air traffic and defence asset Impacts -Not relevant to this development.

(c) Contamination-

The site is not identified as being potentially contaminated

(d) Flooding

The building is in Flood Zone 1, where there is a low probability of flooding. No flood
risk has been identified in relation to this property. Drainage would need to comply with
Building Regulations requirements.

(e) External appearance of the building

The National Planning Policy Framework advises, in paragraph 126 that, ‘The creation
of high quality beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps
make development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design expectations,
and how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective
engagement between applicants, communities, local planning authorities and other
interests throughout the process.

The NPPF emphasises securing high quality design that (amongst other things) is
sympathetic to local character and history, maintains a strong sense of place using the
arrangement of streets, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and
distinctive places to live with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users
(paragraph 130) and that permission should be refused for development that is not well
designed, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government
guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary
documents such as design guides and codes.

The application involves a further storey with a flat roof. The additional floor would be
finished in a light grey cladding with light grey windows. The existing building has

19



vertical yellow brick pillars with white cladding above and below the windows which
stretch between the brick pillars. There are balconies, recesses and other indentations.
Although the light grey cladding is a different colour to the existing cladding it is
considered that it is similar to the existing materials and therefore complies with the
requirement for materials to be similar to the existing.

There will be no additional built area on the ground floor as the new build only uses the
existing built footprint except for the new bin and cycle storages. The additional floor
would have a different material but the grey contemporary cladding and windows would
generally compliment this block, providing it with a light subservient appearance, similar
to a mansard type roof. The proposed extension provides a similar style of development
and the fenestration would line through down the block. The proposed proportionality
and positioning of openings matches the existing building. A similar designed extension
has recently been accepted on Charlton House further to the east.

It is acknowledged that the additional storey would involve additional height, scale and
bulk to the building in an area which is generally two and three storey. However, a
recent appeal decision at St Andrews Gardens, Church Road, Worthing (appeal
reference APP/M3835/W/21/3269452) was allowed with the Inspector stating that:

‘it is not for me to consider the principle of the additional floor, as the construction of an
additional floor of 9 new dwellings already benefits from planning permission under the
provisions of the GPDO’

It is therefore accepted that similarly with the current proposal the additional floor would
benefit from planning permission under the provisions and as such it is only the external
appearance that can be taken into account. As indicated above, although the extension
is not of matching materials, the grey cladding would be appropriate and soften the
building and the proportionality and fenestration would line through. There are also
modern materials on the buildings to the east and a mix of materials in the vicinity. On
its own, the external appearance of the proposal would accord with the NPPF which
requires new development to comprise good quality design, which can include
materials that take account of local characteristics of the area, amongst other things.
The external appearance of the proposal would also, therefore, accord with Policy 16 of
the Worthing Borough Council Core Strategy (2011) and DM5 of the SDWLP.

(f) the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new
dwellinghouses;

The application provides floor plans to support the application showing natural light to
all habitable rooms.

An area schedule has also been provided to show lounge and bedroom areas and the
percentage of floorspace achieved. Public Sector Housing have raised that some of the
units do not meet the 39 sqm required for a one bedroom units. However they do meet
the National Technical Standards of 37 sqm for properties with a shower. As such the

20



units comply with national standards and as indicated above pride natural light to all
habitable rooms.

(g) impact on the amenity of the existing building and neighbouring premises
including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light

An unacceptable level of amenity would be contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework and Planning Practice Guidance which states at para 130 that planning
decisions should ensure (amongst other things) that developments:

● create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of
life or community cohesion and resilience.

This is underlined by Core Strategy Policy 8 and Saved Local Plan Policies H18 and
RES7 and Council SPD Guide for Residential Development and the Policy DM5 and
DM22 of the Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan.

The existing residents within the blocks and adjoining residents have raised concerns in
terms of loss of privacy, overlooking and loss of light.

It is acknowledged that during construction phases that there is likely to be disruption to
residents particularly within the existing blocks as would be a consideration with all new
development, conditions and informatives can be attached to ensure that hours of
working and a construction management plan (as set out above) are requested to
lessen the impact, within control, during construction.

Having regard to the intensification of the use of the building from the resultant increase
in flats, in the context of the existing 45 flats it is considered that the level of activity
associated with 15 new flats is not likely to give rise to any significant loss of amenity
for existing residents in the block. Many of the residents have raised concerns about
refuse storage and car parking both of which have been dealt with above and the
refuse can be dealt with by condition. The LHA considers that the level of parking is
acceptable. The amenity area around the blocks would be retained as existing and the
site is sustainably located.

In terms of overlooking the majority of the proposed windows would be positioned to the
front (south) and rear (north) as are the existing windows in the blocks. There are
proposed secondary windows to living rooms in the east elevation to block B, these
would look towards kitchen and bathroom windows to the west elevation of block A. It is
not however considered that due to the angles and room uses that the proposed
windows in this elevation would cause detrimental overlooking of existing occupants. In
view of the existing windows to the north and south, it is not considered that the
additional windows would cause any additional detrimental overlooking than currently
exists for existing residents of the block or neighbouring properties.

21



The building is set away from the boundaries, in terms of loss of light a daylighting
study has been provided to support the application.

The sunlight plan shows the shadowing through the seasons and 3 times within the
day. It is clear that there will be additional shadowing during the winter months. The
sunlight plan in January indicates that there would be further shadowing of the car park
and rear of gardens of properties Cuckfield Crescent in the early morning, improving as
the sun moves around the building; this additional shadowing is shown to be
diminished by April. It is not therefore considered that the loss of light to the rear of the
gardens in Cuckfield Crescent would be a reason for refusal. Extract shown below

22



In terms of noise, the Noise PPG indicates noise needs to be considered when
development would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic environment. Good acoustic
design needs to be considered early in the planning process to ensure that the most
appropriate solutions are identified from the outset. Decision making needs to take into
account whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur, and
the significant observed adverse effect level – this is the level of noise exposure above
which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur.

Saved Local Plan Policy RES7 states

Development, including the intensification of existing uses, which generates or has the
potential to generate pollution, will only be permitted where by virtue of its location
and/or appropriate mitigation measures, its impact on the natural and built environment,
including wildlife and the amenities of local residents, does not cause unacceptable
harm. Development which is incompatible alongside pollution generating activities will
not be permitted near to such uses where it is likely to result in the need for additional
mitigating measures to control the pollution generating activity.

The supporting text states

In the context of this policy, pollutants include noise, fumes, chemicals, odour, vibration,
heat and dust.

Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan policy DM22 states amongst other things:

23



(a) Development should not result in pollution or hazards which prejudice the health
and safety of the local community and the environment, including nature
conservation interests and the water environment.

(d) Where appropriate, air quality and/or noise assessments will be required to
support planning applications. These should be undertaken in accordance with the
most up to date guidance and have regard to any relevant action plans.

The NPPF specifically advises at paragraph 185 that Planning policies and decisions
should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account
the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions
and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider
area to impacts that could arise from the development.

The site is located on a busy road with activity throughout the day and into the evening.
There are commercial units nearby.

Construction works including noise have been raised by neighbours and residents. The
Environmental Health officer has also requested a condition on the hours of working
and a Construction Management Plan.

(h) whether because of the siting of the building, the development will impact on
a protected view identified in the Directions Relating to Protected Vistas dated 15
March 2012(a) issued by the Secretary of State, and the provisions of paragraph
B (prior approval) of this Part apply in relation to that application.

There are no protected views affecting this development.

Recommendation

Although there have been considerable concerns raised by local residents in relation to
the application, consideration by the LPA is restricted to the legislation as set out above
and addressed. As such Prior Approval is required because of the relevant issues
raised above and is recommended for APPROVAL subject to the following conditions:-

1. Approved Plans
2. Cycle parking details to be submitted
3. Refuse storage details to be submitted
4. Hours of working
5. CMP to be submitted
6. Details of materials to be submitted

24



2
Application Number: AWDM/0056/22 Recommendation Delegate to

Head of Planning and
Development to APPROVE
subject to further comments

Site: Former EDF Car Park, Southdownview Road, Worthing

Proposal: Construction of 3no. buildings providing 11no. light
industrial units (Class E(g)) with associated car
parking, landscaping and acoustic fence to north side
of access road.

Applicant: Worthing Borough
Council

Ward:Broadwater

Agent: ECE Planning Ltd
Case Officer: Jo Morin

Not to Scale
Reproduced from OS Mapping with the permission of HMSO © Crown Copyright Licence number LA100024321

25



Site and Surroundings

The application relates to a backland site (0.96ha in area) comprising the former
EDF car park behind Broadwater Apartments on the east side of Southdownview
Road.

Broadwater Apartments consist of 78 self-contained flats within the former EDF
office buildings converted in 2020 following the grant of Prior Approval under the
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order (NOTICE/0001/19 refers).

The application site is roughly rectangular in shape served by an access road
located to the south side of Broadwater Apartments. The surfaced former car park
narrows towards the rear (east) part of the site. There is a group of mature trees in
the far north-eastern corner on top of an embankment. At the bottom of the
embankment is a ditch forming the rear site boundary. To the west the site boundary
borders the rear car park of Broadwater Apartments with a dog-leg at its
southernmost end.

There is a small parking area in front of Broadwater Apartments as well as the larger
parking area to the rear, both served by an access road off Southdownview Road
and running parallel to the north side of the apartment block.

Adjoining the site to the north is the car park belonging to Bookers Cash Wholesale,
accessed from Dominion Way West, a short cul-de-sac off Southdownview Road. To
the north east (on the other side of the ditch) the site adjoins part of the GSK
complex and a small light industrial unit, both accessed from Dominion Way. To the
south is Rayner Intraocular Lenses, a large high tech business premises surrounded
by open parking accessed from Dominion Way.

The site is included within East Worthing Industrial Estate and Broadwater Business
Park, as are the neighbouring business and commercial premises described above.

There are residential dwellings on the west side of Southdownview Road opposite
the site access.

Proposal

As initially submitted full planning permission was sought by the Council (under
Regulation 3) for the construction of 11 no. flexible industrial buildings (3,303sqm
Gross Internal Area) on the site for light industrial (Class E(g)) and/or storage and
distribution (Class B8) use, with associated car parking (82 spaces) and
landscaping. The proposed units would be accessed using the existing site access
and access road off Southdownview Road.

Following discussions with officers the description of the application has been
amended to omit the flexibility to include Use Class B8 (warehousing and
distribution), so that the proposed use of the development would be solely for light
industrial purposes under Class E(g).

26



The proposed site layout would consist of:-

i) A block of 4no units (Nos 1-4) each with ground-floor GIA of 253 sqm plus 76 sqm
mezzanine (total GIA 329 sqm) backing onto the western site boundary (with
Broadwater Apartments) facing eastward into the site. The block would have a
mono-pitched roof having a maximum height of 8.9m at the rear (west) sloping down
to an eaves height of 7.4 metres at the front. Each unit would have a loading door
(4.6m high) with an 8m deep loading bay and either 5 or 6 car parking spaces on an
open forecourt in front of the block.

ii) A block of 5 no units (Nos 5-9) each with a ground-floor GIA of 207 sqm plus 52
sqm mezzanine (total 259 sqm GIA) backing onto the southern site boundary (with
Rayner) and facing north into the site. As above, the block would have a
mono-pitched roof having a maximum height of 8.9m at the rear (south) sloping
down to an eaves height of 7.4 metres at the front (north). Each unit would have a
loading door (4.6m high) with an 8m deep loading bay plus 4 or 5 car parking spaces
on an open forecourt in front of the block (or in the case of Unit 9 split between the
forecourt and a short row of 3 space on the opposite side of the access road).

iii) Units 10 and 11 comprise an attached pair within a detached building located
roughly in the centre of the site. The larger unit (Unit 10) would have a deeper
footprint comprising a ground-floor GIA of 309 sqm plus 52 sqm mezzanine (total
361 sqm GIA). Unit 11 attached to the east side would have a shallower but wider
footprint comprising 239 sqm GIA at ground-floor plus 52 sqm mezzanine (total 291
sqm GIA). The building would have a dual pitched roof with a north-south ridge 8.9m
high sloping down on the east and west side to an eaves height of 7.4m. Unit 10
would have twin loading doors (4.6m high) on the west side of the building each with
8m deep loading bays in front. This unit would have 9 car parking spaces wrapping
round the south and west sides of the building. Unit 11 would have a single loading
door (4.6m high) on the south side with an 8m deep loading bay in front and 6no car
parking spaces on an open forecourt on the south side.

The proposed layout shows 9no visitor car parking spaces interspersed throughout
the site of which all but one are shown to be active EV charging spaces. A total of 20
active EV charging spaces are shown throughout the scheme. Three separate bin
and bike storage areas are shown to the west side of Unit 5, the north side of Unit 10
and the east side of Unit 11, plus a new brick-built substation (south-west of Unit 5
adjacent to the southern site boundary).

The proposed buildings would be clad in composite micro-rib horizontal wall cladding
in Graphite (RAL 9023) with Metallic Silver (RAL 9006) feature panels, PPC
aluminium windows, curtain walling and entrance doors in Anthracite Grey (RAL
7016) and Dahlia Yellow (RAL 1033) highlights.

The existing site access would be adapted and the access drive reconfigured to
provide 2-way access and egress serving the proposed development including
removal of the existing substation buildings and a new pedestrian footpath formed on
the south side of the access road (adjoining the southern site boundary.

27



An acoustic fence is shown on the north side of the access road alongside the site
boundary with Broadwater Apartments (roughly 80 metres in length) extending
eastwards before wrapping round to extend a further 20 metres northward (to the
rear of Unit 4).

The application is supported by a Planning Statement, Transport Statement, Travel
Plan, Noise Impact Assessment, Arboricultural Report and Impact Assessment, Air
Quality Assessment, Phase I & II Geo-Environmental Assessment, Surface Water
Drainage Design Summary & Calculations (plus Supplementary Groundwater Level
Monitoring, SUDS Drainage Maintenance Schedule, BREEAM Pre-Assessment
Report and Statement of Community Involvement.

Relevant Planning History

AWDM/1008/19 Construction of 5 no. buildings providing 22no. light industrial units
(Class B1c) with associated car parking and landscaping. Planning permission
granted April 2020.

Broadwater Apartments (Former EDF Offices)

NOTICE/0001/19 Application for permitted development for prior approval for change
of use from offices (Use Class B1a) to 78no. flats consisting of 51no. one-bedroom,
25no. two-bedroom and 2no. studio flats (Use Class C3) with 75 car parking spaces.
Prior Approval Required and Granted.

AWDM/0645/20 Application for non-material amendment to approved application
NOTICE/0001/19 for change of room mix from 2no. to 4no. studios, 51no. to 44no.
one-bedroom flats and 25no. to 30no. two-bedroom flats. Approved.

AWDM/0554/20 Proposed revision to car parking layout approved under
NOTICE/0001/19 (from 75no spaces to 76no spaces) and provision of 2no refuse
stores.) Permitted.

AWDM/1168/19 Approval of Details Reserved by Conditions 2 (cycle parking), 3
(measures to prevent use of rear car park), 4 (foul and surface water drainage) and 5
(acoustic insulation scheme) of Application number NOTICE/0001/19. Approved.

AWDM/0654/19 Replacement grey UPVC windows/doors to all elevations including
new Juliet balconies (east and west elevations) and new facade treatments to all
elevations. Perrmitted.

Consultations

West Sussex County Council:

The Local Highway Authority has raised no objection in principle, commenting:-

‘The application site is a former EDF offices site located along the eastern side of
Southdownview Road in Worthing. The former office building at the front of the site is
currently being converted to residential use by the name of ‘Broadwater Apartments’

28



following the granting of prior approval application NOTICE/0001/19. The former
EDF car park now has an extant planning permission, under application no.
AWDM/1008/19, to redevelop the site to construct 22 light industrial units (B1(C)
land use class) with a total commercial floor area of 2,608.5sqm. The current
proposal seeks to redevelop the former car park site to construct 11 flexible industrial
units comprising light industrial use (Class E(g)) and storage and distribution (Class
B8) with an increase in overall commercial floorspace to 3,303sqm.

Access and Visibility
The northern access of the site will be solely utilised by the proposed residential
development and the southern access will provide access only to the proposed
commercial development at the rear of the site. The current proposals would utilise
the approved access arrangements through planning application AWDM/1008/19,
which is considered appropriate to serve the increased commercial floor space on
the site. The proposed access arrangement is shown on drawing 2020/5676/001,
attached within the submitted Transport Statement. In accordance with Manual for
Streets standards for a posted speed of 30mph speed limit, visibility splays of 2.4 x
43m are achievable along both sides of Southdownview Road. The Road Safety
Audit carried out under planning application AWDM/1008/19 identified a problem
with parked cars restricting the side road visibility for drivers emerging from the
access.

The applicant responded to this by offering to extend the existing double yellow road
markings through part of the visibility splays on the eastern side of Southdownview
Road to ensure that the splays are maintained in perpetuity. The extent of the
markings is shown on drawing 2020/5676/001. Swept path assessments shown on
drawing 2020/5676/002 demonstrates that the proposed access arrangements would
prove a suitable width for all cars and typical goods vehicles to pass simultaneously
at the entrance. Drawing 2020/5676/003 demonstrates that, if required, an
articulated vehicle could also turn within the site and exit in forward gear. Personal
Injury Accident (PIA) Data An inspection of data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police
over a period of last five years reveals that there have been no incidents reported
near to the site access. This indicates that the site access has been operating in a
safe manner.

Trip Generation and Highway Impact
Using TRICS, the approved development traffic flows under permitted application
AWDM/1008/19 estimated that a 2,608.5sqm floorspace of commercial units would
generate around 49 two-way vehicle movements in the AM peak hour, 43 two-way
vehicle movements in the PM peak hour and a total of 363 two-way vehicle
movements amounting to an Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) level of 259
vehicle movements. Using the same trip rates, it was estimated that a 3,303sqm
floorspace of commercial units would generate 62 two-way vehicle movements in the
AM peak hour, 55 two-way vehicle movements in the PM peak hour and a total of
460 two-way vehicle movements amounting to an AADT level of 329 vehicle
movements. WSCC had requested a further assessment of the total traffic impact of
the changes of the site including the consented change of use of the main building
from office (6,159sqm floor area) to 78 units residential dwelling granted through
NOTICE/0001/19. The change of use from office to residential development resulted
in 112-113 fewer vehicle movements during each of the peak hours. The proposed

29



development forecast to generate 62 and 55 two-way vehicle movements in the AM
and PM peak hours respectively would therefore continue to offer a considerable net
reduction in vehicle traffic when compared to the site’s historic office use. Therefore,
the LHA do not consider the proposed development trips would cause a severe
impact on the local highway network.

Parking
A total of 82 vehicle parking spaces are provided for the proposed development. This
is based on the WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments (September
2020) guidance for under Class E Commercial Business and Service – Business
(office, research and development and light industrial process) which would require 1
space per 30sqm. Also, it has been considered that the application site is located
within Zone 4 which is considered to be an accessible location. A parking
accumulation exercise demonstrates that the proposed vehicle parking capacity of
82 spaces would be appropriate to cater for the operations of the site with suitable
space capacity to accommodate any sporadic peaks in demand. In accordance with
WSCC Standards, a total of 5 spaces would be designed and designated for
disabled (blue badge) parking. A total of 20 EV charging points across the site,
including a single EV charging point for each individual commercial unit and 7
additional EV spaces for visitors (including disabled bays). This would amount to
26% of all space. The revised Building Regs (Approved Document S which comes
into effect from 15th June 2022 requires all the parking spaces to be provided with
‘Active’ charging points.

In accordance with WSCC’s parking guidance, a total of 22 cycle parking spaces for
staff are provided within secure and sheltered locations across the site. For visitors,
a single short-stay cycle parking space would be provided at the front of each
commercial unit. Delivery and Servicing The proposal would include the provision of
a dedicated loading / unloading bay for each individual unit on the site. These bays
would be 8 x 4 metres to accommodate all necessary vehicles. Refuse Storage and
Collection Collection of waste and recycling would be organised by Worthing
Borough Council through a private contractor, who would service all commercial
units 1-2 times per week.

Sustainability
Through planning application AWDM/1008/19, it has been established that the site is
in a sustainable location with proximity to town centre which provides convenient
accessibility to shops, services and retail opportunities.

Conclusion
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) does not consider that this proposal would have
an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts
on the operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraphs 110 -113, as revised 20th July 2021.
Therefore, there are no transport grounds to resist this proposal.

If the Local Planning Authority (LPA) mind to approve the application, the following
conditions should be applied:

30



Conditions

Access: No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the
vehicular access serving the development has been constructed in accordance with
the details approved by the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of road safety.

Vehicle Parking and Turning: No part of the development shall be first occupied until
the vehicle parking and turning spaces have been constructed in accordance with
the approved plan. These spaces shall thereafter be retained for their designated
use.
Reason: To provide adequate on-site car parking and turning space for the
development.

Cycle Parking: No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and
secure cycle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and
details submitted to and approved by the LPA.
Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with
current sustainable transport policies.

EVC Parking Spaces: No part of the development shall be first occupied until Electric
Vehicle Charging spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details
submitted to and approved by the LPA.
Reason: To provide EVC charging points to support the use of electric vehicles in
accordance with current national sustainable transport policies.

Construction Management Plan: No development shall take place, including any
works of demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Plan shall be
implemented and adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall
provide the following details as a minimum:

● the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during
construction,

● the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
● the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
● the loading and unloading of plant, materials, and waste,
● the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
● the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
● the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate

the impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders),

● details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area.

The WSCC Fire & Rescue Service comments:-

I refer to your consultation in respect of the above planning application and would
provide the following comments:

31



1. Prior to the commencement of the development details showing the proposed
location of [1] one fire hydrant or stored water supply (in accordance with the West
Sussex Fire and Rescue Guidance Notes) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with West Sussex County
Council’s Fire and Rescue Service. These approvals shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed.

2. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling/unit forming part of the proposed
development that they will at their own expense install the fire hydrant (or in a
phased programme if a large development) in the approved location to BS 750
standards or stored water supply and arrange for their connection to a water supply
which is appropriate in terms of both pressure and volume for the purposes of
firefighting.

The fire hydrant shall thereafter be maintained as part of the development by the
water undertaker at the expense of the Fire and Rescue Service if adopted as part of
the public mains supply (Fire Services Act 2004) or by the owner / occupier if the
installation is retained as a private network.

As part of the Building Regulations 2004, adequate access for firefighting vehicles
and equipment from the public highway must be available and may require additional
works on or off site, particularly in very large developments. (BS5588 Part B 5) for
further information please contact the Fire and Rescue Service.

If a requirement for additional water supply is identified by the Fire and Rescue
Service and is subsequently not supplied, there is an increased risk for the Service
to control a potential fire. It is therefore recommended that the hydrant condition is
implemented Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with policy AG3
of the Adur Local Plan1996 or policy P29 and P30 of the Adur Local Plan 2014 and
in accordance with The Fire & Rescue Service Act 2004.

WSCC Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) comments:-

Flood Risk Summary

Current surface water flood risk based on 30 year and 100 year events: Low Risk

Comment: Current surface water mapping shows that the proposed site is at low risk
from surface water flooding. This risk is based on modelled data only and should not
be taken as meaning that the site will/will not definitely flood in these events. Any
existing surface water flow paths across the site should be maintained and mitigation
measures proposed for areas at high risk. Reason: NPPF paragraph 163 states that
‘When determining any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure
flood risk is not increased elsewhere.’

Modelled groundwater flood hazard classification: Moderate Risk
Comment: The area of the proposed development is shown to be at moderate risk
from groundwater flooding based on current mapping. This risk is based on modelled
data only and should not be taken as meaning that the site will/will not suffer
groundwater flooding.

32



Ground water contamination and Source Protection Zones: The potential for ground
water contamination within a source protection zone has not been considered by the
LLFA. The LPA should consult with the EA if this is considered as risk

Ordinary Watercourses nearby? Yes

Comment: Current mapping shows an ordinary watercourse adjacent to the eastern
boundary site. Local or field boundary ditches, not shown on Ordnance Survey
mapping, may exist around or across the site. If present these should be maintained
and highlighted on future plans. Works affecting the flow of an ordinary watercourse
will require ordinary watercourse consent and an appropriate development-free
buffer zone should be incorporated into the design of the development.

Records of any historic flooding within the site? No

Comment: We do not have any records of historic surface flooding within the
confines of the proposed site. This should not be taken that this site has never
suffered from flooding, only that it has never been reported to the LLFA.

Future development - Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)

The Surface Water Drainage Design Summary and Calculations included with this
application state that permeable paving and below ground attenuation, with a
restricted discharge to the watercourse would be used to control the surface water
runoff from the site. This application should be reviewed by the District Council
Drainage Engineer to identify site specific land use considerations that may affect
surface water management and for a technical review of the drainage systems
proposed, including the suitability of infiltration of the site.

All works to be undertaken in accordance with the LPA agreed detailed surface water
drainage designs and calculations for the site, based on sustainable drainage
principles.

The maintenance and management of the SuDS system should be set out in a
site-specific maintenance manual and submitted to, and approved in writing, by the
Local Planning Authority.

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved
designs. Please note that Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010
has not yet been implemented and WSCC does not currently expect to act as the
SuDS Approval Body (SAB) in this matter.

Southern Water

Investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate foul sewerage disposal to
service the proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application for
a connection to the public sewer to be made by the applicant or developer.

33



Southern Water has undertaken a desktop study of the impact of the proposed
development on the existing public surface water network. The results of this
assessment indicate that with a connection at the “practical point of connection”, as
defined in the New Connections Services implemented from 1st April 2018, there is
an increased risk of flooding if the proposed surface water runoff rates are to be
discharged at proposed connection points. Alternatively, if this is a brownfield site
redevelopment, the developer can discharge surface water flow no greater than
existing levels if proven to already be connected and it is ensured that there is no
overall increase in flows into the surface water system. The developer will be
required to provide a topographical site survey and/or a CCTV survey with the
connection application showing the existing connection points, pipe sizes, gradients
and calculations confirming the proposed surface water flow will be no greater than
the existing contributing flows.

Southern Water request that should this application receive planning approval, the
following condition is attached to the consent: “Construction of the development shall
not commence until details of the proposed means of surface water runoff disposal in
accordance with Part H3 of Building Regulations hierarchy as well as acceptable
discharge points, rates and volumes have been agreed by the Lead Flood Authority,
in consultation with Southern Water.”

The supporting documents make reference to drainage using Sustainable Drainage
Systems (SuDS). Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern
Water should this be requested by the developer. Where SuDS form part of a
continuous sewer system, and are not an isolated end of pipe SuDS component,
adoption will be considered if such systems comply with the latest Sewers for
Adoption (Appendix C) and CIRIA guidance.

Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers
the applicant will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long-term
maintenance of the SuDS facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these
systems is maintained in perpetuity. Good management will avoid flooding from the
proposed surface water system, which may result in the inundation of the foul
sewerage system. Thus, where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage
details submitted to the Local Planning Authority should:-

● Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS
scheme.

● Specify a timetable for implementation.
● Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the

development.

This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or
statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the
scheme throughout its lifetime. The Council’s technical staff and the relevant
authority for land drainage consent should comment on the adequacy of the
proposals to discharge surface water to the local watercourse.
If the applicant proposes to offer a new on-site drainage and pumping station for
adoption as part of the foul/surface water public sewerage system, this would have
to be designed and constructed to the specification of Southern Water Services Ltd.

34



A secure compound would be required, to which access for large vehicles would
need to be possible at all times. The compound will be required to be 100 square
metres in area, or of some such approved lesser area as would provide an
operationally satisfactory layout. In order to protect the amenity of prospective
residents, no habitable rooms shall be located within 15 metres to the boundary of
the proposed adoptable pumping station, due to the potential odour, vibration and
noise generated by all types of pumping stations. The transfer of land ownership will
be required at a later stage for adoption.

Southern Water request that should this planning application receive planning
approval, the following informative is attached to the consent: “Construction of the
development shall not commence until details of the proposed means of foul
sewerage and surface water disposal have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water.”

It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works,
an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any
further works commence on site.

Investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate water supply to service the
proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a
connection to the water supply to be made by the applicant or developer.

Southern Water has reviewed this planning application and feel that it does not go far
enough to consider potential impacts to groundwater. The site is located within the
EA SPZ1 and SPZ2 for Southern Water’s East Worthing public water supply
groundwater abstraction. Any construction or operational related contamination of
the groundwater has the potential to impact our abstraction source within 50 days.
The geo-environmental report states that local groundwater flow can be away from
the groundwater abstraction. Southern Water would strongly contest this when the
site is located within the EA SPZ1 and zone of influence of our East Worthing
abstraction. If the groundwater flow understanding that the conceptual model is
based upon is flawed, then this will require revision. Clarity is required between the
superficial alluvium aquifer and the principal Chalk bedrock aquifer.

Piled foundations are currently proposed. The risks these features will have to the
groundwater environment have not been assessed in the provided documentation.
Cross contamination has also not been considered.

Southern Water notes that the groundwater quality suite included in the Phase 1 and
2 geoenvironmental report is not comprehensive for the site’s historical land-use and
thus cannot be relied upon to inform upon actual drinking water risks. The Generic
Quantitative Risk Assessment is therefore likely to be missing a number of
determinants that could pose risks to drinking water quality. This should be updated
given the proximity of the site to the Southern Water East Worthing abstraction
source.

35



Southern Water notes that the current drainage strategy is to discharge surface
water to a drain to the east of the site. Southern Water will require review of the
drainage design.

At present based on the information provided we believe the development poses a
high risk to our East Worthing groundwater abstraction as the impacts from site
construction and operation have not been considered in full. We require
hydrogeological assessment(s) to ensure that risks to groundwater are identified and
appropriately mitigated. Southern Water would also like to review and approve the
proposed piling risk assessment. At present Southern Water OBJECT to this
application and seek further reassurances that our groundwater abstraction source
will not be impacted by the proposed development.

Environment Agency: No comments received.

Sussex Police: No major concerns with these proposals, however, a series of
additional detailed measures from a Secured By Design (SBD) perspective are
recommended by the Designing Out Crime Officer to mitigate against any identified
local crime trends and site specific requirements. This includes advice on security
measures for commercial developments, considerations relating to installation of
CCTV and intruder alarms, securing of cycles within the development and advice on
bin stores.

It is advised that the applicant may wish to consider applying for Parkmark
accreditation for the car parking areas within the development which is aimed at
reducing both crime and the fear of crime in parking facilities.

With regards to landscaping and boundary treatments it is recommended that ground
planting should not be higher than 1 metre with tree canopies no lower than 2 metres
to provide a window of observation through the area.

Lighting throughout the development will be an important consideration and where it
is implemented it should conform to the recommendations within BS5489-1:2020.

Adur & Worthing Councils:

The Environmental Health Officer initially commented:

Contaminated Land
A Phase I & II Geo-Environmental Assessment (UK20.5034 Date Issued: 24 th
August 2020) has been submitted with this application. The preliminary conceptual
model does not specify the risk category of each linkage that has been identified.
The ground gas sampling does not appear to have followed the frequency/period of
monitoring guidance contained within Ciria C665. What is the generation potential of
the site? Even if it is considered to be very low there should have been 4 readings
over a period of 1 month with at least two of these at low and falling pressure. The
report advises that shallow soils are unsuitable for use in the proposed marginal soft
landscaped areas and it recommends the addition of 300mm clean cover. A high
visible membrane should be laid at the base of this cover system.

36



Noise
A Noise Impact Assessment Report (Report Ref: P4547-R1-V2 Issue Date: 19th
December 2021) has been submitted with this application. This report includes an
assessment based on BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 and identifies the impact of noise
from the access road and forklift truck activities would have the greatest impact on
nearest noise sensitive dwellings, with the rating level exceeding the background
noise level at all monitoring points.

However, it is noted that the nearest noise sensitive dwellings have incorporated
acoustic glazing and MVHR on the external facades to mitigate against external
noise and minimise the need to open windows for ventilation. With the acoustic
glazing which has been installed within these dwellings, the predicted noise levels
from the proposed use should not result in elevated internal noise levels.

The modelling of facade noise levels at Broadwater Apartments within Table 2
includes the mitigation provided by the acoustic barrier on the north side of the
access road. However, this Noise Impact Assessment advises against the provision
of this acoustic barrier but it does not include noise modelling without this mitigation
in place. Please could an updated model be provided?

Noise mitigation has been provided at Broadwater Apartments, however it is noted
that there are two properties to the south of the access road on Harrison Rd (named
Glencoe and Glendean), what are the predicted noise levels affecting these
properties?

Section 4 of the report provides an outline Noise Management Plan, I have the
following comments concerning this:-

Section 4.3.19: It is generally recommended that appropriate assessment should be
undertaken in accordance with BS4142:2014+A1+:2019 and that an acceptable
rated noise level at the façade of the nearest noise sensitive receptor should not
exceed +5 dB above the prevailing background sound level for the time the activity
operation would typically active for. As the proposed use of this area will result in an
increase in background noise levels we want to avoid any further noise creep. We
would expect the rating level not to exceed the prevailing background sound level at
the nearest noise sensitive facade

Air Quality
An Air Quality Assessment Report (ref. P4548-R1-V1 dated July 2021) has been
submitted with this application. This assessment was undertaken in line with the
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) guidance. Section 5.3.15. details
mitigation measures to be implemented as part of the proposals in order to minimise
air quality impacts associated with road traffic emissions. Within the Emission
Mitigation Statement, please could the applicant provide costings for each proposed
mitigation option.

The EHO left the Council in Summer 2022 and the following further comments have
been provided by a different Officer follows:-

37



My biggest concern is the traffic in and off the site, particularly heavy goods vehicles,
because of the proximity of some of the residential units to the site access road.
Approximately 2m from the edge of the road to the facade. Looking at the acoustic
scheme for the residential units, it is evident what has been installed is not what was
recommended in the acoustic report for Notice/0019/19.

Acoustic vents for the rooms are missing, which in turn will mean windows need to
be opened for ventilation and as a result you will lose the noise protection. I am
surprised the applicant's acoustician has not picked this up as he has done the
reports for both developments. Given this omission, I would also like to see the
evidence that the correct window specification has been installed, as the acoustician
refers to this in his latest report for application AWDM/0056/22. This needs
addressing as the acoustician is factoring this in for this latest application.

The acoustic report for this development AWDM/0056/22, refers to an existing
acoustic fence to the east and part of the south sides of the apartments. This
featherboard fence is pretty flimsy and contains gaps by the fence posts; you can
see daylight between the panels and the post, so this fence will provide limited
acoustic robustness. That said, I am satisfied that noise from activity within the
proposed units and the immediate surroundings of these units can be adequately
managed, it is the effect of traffic to and from the site along the access road that
needs more work.

The proposal is to erect an acoustic fence in front of the ground floor units, but this is
likely to be oppressive as it will reduce natural light and remove any view to these
apartments. We should also note that the first floor overhangs this space so it will
mean these apartments only get a small opening of natural daylight if an acoustic
fence is erected here.Furthermore, any vehicle noise will go over the top of the
acoustic fence and will reflect off the overhang and could possibly cause an echo
chamber between the acoustic fence and the apartment facade. Finally, some of
these apartments are already occupied, and consideration should be given to what
the tenants may have to say if a 2m fence is erected outside their windows. The
acoustic fence could make things!

I am of the view that the previous approved planning application for light industrial is
likely to generate fewer traffic movements than warehousing and distribution and I
would have expected to see more detail in this new application on expected increase
in traffic flow numbers and the impact of this traffic on these apartments facing the
access road. It would be preferable that any new permission does not increase traffic
movements along the access road. Additionally, the suitability and effectiveness of
the acoustic barrier in front of these apartments needs to be considered in more
detail. Furthermore, I would recommend that a 10mph speed limit is put in place
along this access road and that the road is maintained to prevent potholes that may
cause vehicles to clank. Finally, I would ensure that the access road is gated to
prevent access outside business hours.

Following amendment of the application to omit the Class B8 (Warehousing &
Distribution) element the EHO has commented:-

38



“The conditions for the existing permission are OK to control noise from the light
industrial development and I have no concerns here. My main concern is the
acoustic fence along the access road as this will impact the residents' outlook from
their homes. I am not convinced this will be very effective as traffic noise will be
reflected back down by the first floor overhang. We should recognise that the height
of the noise source, the engine in 7.5 tonne lorry will be set over a meter from the
ground so the barrier will only be 60 to 80 cm above the source. My own view is that
a tightly controlled speed limit, 10 mph, along the road would be the most
appropriate way to minimise vehicle noise. Controlled via a digital speed indicator
sign.”

The Engineer has commented as follows:-

Flood risk: The application is within flood zone 1, the site is not shown as being at
risk from surface water flooding.

Surface water drainage: The surface water drainage strategy submitted allows for
restricted discharge at 4.9l/s to watercourse. This is acceptable in principle. The
connections from the watercourse must be established to show that water will be
able to efficiently drain from site without increasing flood risk, currently no inlet or
outlet to the watercourse is visible. Improvements to the watercourse will be
required. Winter groundwater monitoring and winter infiltration testing results will
need to be supplied at discharge of conditions stage.

If you are minded to approve this application please ensure that the drainage
documents and drawings supplied are NOT listed as approved. And please apply the
following conditions to ensure that the development is adequately drained and does
not increase flood risk elsewhere:-

“Development shall not commence, other than works of site survey and investigation,
until full details of the proposed surface water drainage scheme have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The design should follow
the hierarchy of preference for different types of surface water drainage disposal
systems as set out in Approved Document H of the Building Regulations, and the
recommendations of the SuDS Manual produced by CIRIA. Winter groundwater
monitoring to establish highest annual ground water levels and winter infiltration
testing to BRE DG365, or similar approved, will be required to support the design of
any Infiltration drainage. No building shall be brought into use until the complete
surface water drainage system serving the property has been implemented in
accordance with the agreed details and the details so agreed shall be maintained in
good working order in perpetuity.”

“Development shall not commence until full details of the maintenance and
management of the surface water drainage system is set out in a site-specific
maintenance manual and submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local
Planning Authority. The manual is to include details of financial management and
arrangements for the replacement of major components at the end of the
manufacturer's recommended design life. Upon completed construction of the
surface water drainage system, the owner or management company shall strictly
adhere to and implement the recommendations contained within the manual.” “The

39



development shall not proceed until details have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority for any proposals: to discharge flows to
watercourses; or for the culverting, diversion, infilling or obstruction of any
watercourse on or adjacent to the site. Any discharge to a watercourse must be at a
rate no greater than the pre-development run-off values. No construction is
permitted, which will restrict current and future land owners from undertaking their
riparian maintenance responsibilities in respect to any watercourse or culvert on or
adjacent to the site.“
And the accompanying informatives:-

“Infiltration rates for soakage structures are to be based on percolation tests
undertaken in the winter period and at the location and depth of the proposed
structures. The percolation tests must be carried out in accordance with BRE
DG365, CIRIA R156 or a similar approved method and cater for the 1 in 10 year
storm between the invert of the entry pipe to the soakaway, and the base of the
structure. It must also have provision to ensure that there is capacity in the system to
contain below ground level the 1 in 100 year event plus 40% on stored volumes, as
an allowance for climate change. Adequate freeboard must be provided between the
base of the soakaway structure and the highest recorded annual groundwater level
identified in that location. Any SuDS or soakaway design must include adequate
groundwater monitoring data to determine the highest winter groundwater table in
support of the design. The applicant is advised to discuss the extent of groundwater
monitoring with the Council's Engineers. Further details regarding our requirements
are available on the following webpage
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-fees-forms. A surface
water drainage checklist is available on this webpage. This clearly sets out our
requirements for avoiding pre-commencement conditions, or to discharge conditions"

And:-

“Under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 Land Drainage Consent must be
sought from the Lead Local Flood Authority (West Sussex County Council), prior to
starting any works (temporary or permanent) that affect the flow of water in an
ordinary watercourse. Such works may include culverting, channel diversion,
discharge of flows, connections, headwalls and the installation of trash screens.

The development layout must take account of any existing watercourses (open or
culverted) to ensure that future access for maintenance is not restricted. No
development is permitted within 3m of the bank of an ordinary watercourse, or 3m of
a culverted ordinary watercourse.”

The Tree and Landscape Officer comments:

I consider that the proposed landscaping and tree protection plans are acceptable.
The loss of the large Willow trees will have an effect on the area, but is reasonable
considering the species and the area will be compensated by the provision of more
suitable new trees.

40



Representations

None at the time of writing.

Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Saved Worthing Local Plan (WBC 2003):  Policies H18, TR9, RES7
Worthing Core Strategy (WBC 2011): Policies 3, 4, 12, 15, 16, 17, 19
National Planning Policy Framework (HCLG 2021)
National Planning Practice Guidance
West Sussex County Council ‘Guidance on Parking at New Developments’ (WSCC
2020)
Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan (as Modified): SP1, SP2, SP3, DM5, DM10,
DM11, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM20, DM22

Relevant Legislation

The Committee should consider the planning application in accordance with:

Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides that
the application may be granted either unconditionally or subject to relevant
conditions, or refused. Regard shall be given to relevant development plan policies,
any relevant local finance considerations, and other material considerations

Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that requires the
decision to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning Assessment

Principle

The policy context consists of the NPPF and the local development plan which at the
time of writing comprises the saved policies of the Worthing Local Plan (2003), and
the Worthing Core Strategy (2011). The modified version of the new Worthing Local
Plan currently carries substantial weight in the determination of planning applications
having been found to be ‘sound’ by the Inspector following independent examination.
It is due to be adopted at the Council meeting on 13 December 2022 at which point
the new Local Plan will supersede the above-mentioned Core Strategy and saved
Worthing Local Plan (2003) policies.

The extant planning permission (AWDM/1008/19) for the construction of 2,431 sqm
of light industrial floorspace within 22no units (former User Class B1(c)) on the site is
also a material consideration of substantial weight.

National planning policy contained in the revised NPPF post-dates the adoption of
the Core Strategy. Paragraph 11 identifies at the heart of the NPPF that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision making this means
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the

41



policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date,
granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies of the NPPF
taken as a whole.

Paragraph 81 of the NPPF requires that significant weight be placed on the need to
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business
needs and wider opportunities for development.

The approach set out in the adopted Core Strategy is one which seeks to ensure that
the right amount and range of business premises and sites are delivered in
sustainable locations to meet the needs of the local economy. CS Policy 3 seeks to
ensure the right conditions are created for delivering sustainable economic growth by
(amongst other things) promoting key employment areas for reinvestment,
intensification and redevelopment to bring about upgraded and additional
employment floor space area and making more efficient use of existing underused
and accessible employment sites.

To ensure that an adequate supply of employment space is retained CS Policy 4
seeks to protect and retain existing employment generating sites and premises for
employment use.

A similar approach is taken by Policy DM11 in the new modified Local Plan informed
by evidence from Worthing Economic Research and Employment Land Review
(2016 and update 2020) which found that employment space in Worthing is in high
demand and under threat from other uses and supports the approach that existing
employment land should be retained to ensure future economic growth.

The study found that demand for industrial space in Worthing remains strong with
low levels of vacancy reflecting a limited supply of industrial space in the market,
particularly modern, good quality space. Development of new industrial space has
been limited in recent years with much of the Borough’;s existing stock relatively
dated and in need of refurbishment. This, coupled with a shortage of availability
means that existing firms within Worthing struggle to accommodate any expansion
and relocation plans in the Borough, particularly those with medium to large spatial
requirements. The limited availability of industrial supply locally has made it difficult
to encourage new businesses to relocate in the Borough. The study found that
demand for industrial space in Worthing comes from a mix of industrial sectors
(particularly warehousing and small-scale logistics) with most premises requirements
up to 10,000 sq ft (930 sqm), but also some demand for larger industrial units.
Overall, the market is in need of new, modern stock that offers a good range of small
to medium industrial and warehousing units.

The extant permission AWDM/1008/19 provides 22no mostly smaller sized units
between 97-104 sqm GIA, with only one slightly larger unit of 196 sqm. In contrast,
the current application proposes a smaller number of slightly larger units with floor
areas ranging between 259-361 sqm GIA (including mezzanines).

The development site is located within the designed East Worthing Industrial Estate
and the proposed development to provide 3,303 sqm of light industrial floor space
(Class E9(g)) can be supported in principle in accordance with Core Strategy policy

42



4 and policy DM9 of the modified Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan, as
providing a more intensive redevelopment of the former EDF car park for
much-needed  employment use.

The key considerations are the effects of the proposed development on the
residential occupiers of nearby Broadwater Apartments, visual amenity and highway
safety considerations.

Layout, Character and Appearance

The proposed buildings are laid out to make the most efficient use of the available
land based on a V-shaped internal road layout compared to the previously approved
‘loop’ (AWDM/1008/19). The 2 larger perimeter blocks (1-4 and 5-9) are linear in
form and sited to face inward into the site with the larger pair of units (10-11) forming
an ‘island’ roughly in the centre of the site.

The buildings, now designed to include optional mezzanines, are some 2m taller in
height compared to the previously approved light industrial units. Nevertheless, all
would be lower in overall height than Broadwater Apartments (the former EDF office
building) fronting Southdownview Road, and in view of the ‘backland’ location of the
development, they would have a relatively limited impact in public views from
Southdownview Road or Dominion Way to the rear.

The scale, form, massing, design and external materials and finishes of the
proposed buildings are appropriate to a commercial environment within the
designated industrial estate and would have a cohesive, contemporary aesthetic.

The altered layout and size of the proposed units compared to the previous scheme
will result in the loss of additional trees and vegetation alongside the northern and
eastern site perimeters, as well as hedging along the southern boundary. None of
the existing trees are subject to a Tree Preservation Order.

The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment identifies a total of 23 individual
trees on the site, 9 tree groups and 2 hedges with the key arboriculture features
comprising 6 willow trees (T.2, T.3, T.6, T.7, T.8 and T.9) growing adjacent to the
northern site boundary, and 2 field maples (T.11 and T.19), a walnut (T.12) and red
oak (T.14) growing within the soft landscaped alongside the north and eastern site
boundaries.

Of these, nine individual trees, six groups, part of one other group and one hedge
would need to be removed. Of the nine individual trees to be removed, 5no are
identified as ‘crack willow’ and Category ‘B’ (i.e. Trees of moderate condition, with
minor defects or sub-optimal form but still of modest arboricultural, landscape or
conservation value with a minimum potential lifespan of 20 years). The others,
comprising 1no Elder and 3no Alder trees are identified as Category ‘C’ or ‘U’ trees.
(Category C - Unremarkable trees of poor condition or form with limited
arboricultural, landscape or conservation value, Category U - Trees of such impaired
condition they cannot realistically be retained as living trees in the context of the
current land use for more than 10 years).

43



The main justification for tree and vegetation removal is to allow space for the
construction of new building footprints, car parking and circulation spaces, but also to
allow space for high quality replacement landscaping. With specific reference to the
crack willows the submitted report identifies: “As a species these trees have broad
crowns and although they are already mature they do have further growth potential.
As this species matures, it propagates through dropping limbs which then set seed.
Therefore the proposed Units 10 and 11 as well as the proposed footpath and
seating area are too close to these trees to allow a positive relationship within the
proposals going forward.”

Whilst a total of 5no existing trees were identified for removal as part of the
previously approved scheme, the submitted report notes that AWDM/1008/19 was
not supported by arboricultural reports and did not identify the safety issues of
retaining the existing crack willow trees in proximity to buildings, parking and
circulation spaces.

The submitted Arboricultural Report recommends planting of 5no heavy standard
Elm trees ‘Ulmus x columella’ (developed to be completely resistant to Dutch Elm
disease) within the soft landscaped area to the north of the site to mitigate the loss of
the crack willow trees. The Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer has raised no
objection to the current proposals on this basis, noting that the proposed
replacements would be more suitable. The application is not accompanied by a
detailed planting schedule. It is noted the submitted site plan, albeit indicative, only
appears to show 4no heavy standard replacements although there would seem to be
adequate space within the existing landscaping area adjoining the northern and
eastern boundaries to accommodate additional suitable tree planting, as well as
some other opportunities for smaller tree and hedge planting on ‘leftover’ spaces
within the site and along its edges, as well as either side of the access road. It is
important that the 9no individual trees to be removed are replaced on a 1-to-1 basis,
and this can be secured as part of a specifically worded planning condition.

Neighbour amenity

The most affected neighbours are the occupiers of the 78 residential flats within
Broadwater Apartments (a residential conversion of the former EDF office buildings).
The building consists of 2 main components comprising a larger 3-storey element on
the north side and smaller 2-storey building to the south joined by a narrow 2-storey
link. The change of use from offices to residential was carried out under the
provisions for permitted development set out within the Town & Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order via an application for Prior Approval initially
granted under NOTICE/0001/19 with associated external alterations to the building
granted planning permission under AWDM/0654/19.

The application is supported by a noise impact assessment which is based on
site-specific background data that was also submitted to support the previous
approved scheme AWDM/1008/19. The assessment has been undertaken with
reference to BS4142:2014 which provides methods for assessing noise of an
industrial/commercial nature. The report identifies the main sources of noise

44



emissions to be from commercial vehicles entering and leaving, and moving around
the site, and Forklift trucks loading and unloading goods.

The report identifies the closest noise sensitive receptors (NSR) as Broadwater
Apartments. It notes that the conditions of the Prior Approval granted under
NOTICE/0001/19 required implementation of an acoustic insulation scheme in order
to provide a satisfactory internal living environment for the future occupiers due to
potential noise breakout from the commercial and industrial uses located to the
north, east and south of the site. The approved scheme (AWDM/1168/19) included
the fitting of acoustic glazing to all units and MVHR (mechanical ventilation with heat
recovery) to all the external facing units in order to provide occupants with
acceptable internal noise levels with windows closed and also appropriate
ventilation.

The report refers to a reduction in the number of industrial units compared to the
extant scheme, but not the increased amount of overall total floor space nor inclusion
of Class B8 (storage & distribution) uses as initially proposed.

It references the existence of a 3m high close-boarded fence along the eastern, and
part of the southern site boundary of Broadwater Apartment, although in fact the
fence in situ is of a far more flimsy construction and not as described.

The report explains that the design, layout and orientation of the proposed buildings
on the site would have a significant screening effect that would adequately protect
the residents of Broadwater Apartments from noise associated with vehicle
movements (including forklift truck and offloading activities) within the site.

The report identifies the key issue as the proximity of the access road to the
southern facade of Broadwater Apartments with elevated noise levels likely to be
existent at this location on a sporadic basis. There are windows in this elevation at
ground and first-floor level serving habitable rooms, with some residential units
having a sole south-facing aspect toward the access road. However, the report goes
on to conclude that with the acoustic attenuation measures implemented at
Broadwater Apartment and with delivery vehicle movements managed through the
implementation of an overarching noise management plan, that there would be no
adverse noise impacts for these residents with the worst-affected apartment on the
southern facade likely to be exposed to a worst case scenario break-in level of 23
dB(A). Details of a noise management plan outlined in the submitted report include
controls over hours of operation with no working, trade or business (including the
arrival, reception or despatch of deliveries) except between the hours of 0700 and
1900 Monday to Friday and between 0800 and 1400 hours on Saturdays;
implementation of an acoustic barrier to the north boundary of the development site;
and a restriction on vehicles entering the site to no greater than 7.5 tonnes.

The extant scheme AWDM/1008/19 includes the provision of an acoustic barrier up
to 2m in height along the north side of the proposed access road running adjacent to
the southern facade of Broadwater Apartments and this is also required as a
condition of that permission. The current scheme also shows the provision of an
acoustic fence in this location notwithstanding that the submitted noise report
suggests that the resulting detriment to light and aesthetics, especially for the

45



residents of the ground-floor apartments, would likely outweigh the acoustic
attenuation benefit of this feature.

In visiting the site the Council’s EHO has identified that the acoustic attenuation
measures required as a condition of NOTICE/0001/19 in relation to Broadwater
Apartments appear not to have been implemented as approved by AWDM/1168/19
and hence the assumptions to this effect contained within the submitted report are
likely to be flawed. This is a potential breach of planning control that will require
further investigation.

That aside, the EHO is largely satisfied that noise from activity within the proposed
industrial units and the immediate surroundings of the proposed units can be
managed and would not give rise to unacceptable noise and disturbance for the
occupiers of Broadwater Apartments.

The EHO’s key concern relates to traffic movements, particularly heavy goods
vehicles, along the access road sited only 2m from the southern facade of
Broadwater Apartments, stating: “I am of the view that the previous approved
planning application for light industrial is likely to generate fewer traffic movements
than warehousing and distribution and I would have expected to see more detail in
this new application on expected increase in traffic flow numbers and the impact of
this traffic on these apartments facing the access road.”

Officers have also questioned the suitability of some of the proposed noise control
measures outlined in the submitted noise report for Class B8 (storage and
distribution) uses; not least the suggested restriction on vehicle sizes up to 7.5
tonnes, and proposed day-time only business hours. The risk is that subsequent
pressures to weaken or dilute these controls in order to meet the normal business
requirements of prospective warehouse operators would further impact on the
amenities of the occupiers of Broadwater Apartments. Furthermore, the practicalities
of enforcing a weight limit on vehicles visiting the site makes such a condition
unenforceable.

Following discussions the flexibility to include Class B8 (storage and distribution)
uses has been omitted from the current scheme, with the proposed use now limited
to Class E(g) light industrial use only.

The EHO has also questioned the effectiveness of the proposed acoustic fence
included as part of the proposals, noting that the original design of the southern part
of the former EDF offices involves the first-floor overhanging the recessed
ground-floor (with a series of distinctive external ‘ribs’ along the southern edge of the
facade). The EHO has identified a risk that in the absence of modelling an acoustic
fence could actually worsen noise impacts of the occupiers of the ground-floor flats
on the south side of Broadwater Apartments by reflecting off the underside of the
first-floor overhang. The EHO considers that a restriction on traffic speeds on the
access road up to 10 mph would be more effective in controlling vehicle and traffic
noise. The effectiveness of such a measure is also questioned from an enforcement
point of view since the access road would not be adopted, but the Noise
Management Plan could include a requirement for a digital speed indicator sign on
the access road which would act in an advisory measure to drivers.

46



Given the concerns about the likely effectiveness of an acoustic fence together with
its impact on the receipt of light to, and outlook from, the ground-floor windows to
flats on the south side of Broadwater Apartments on balance it is considered it
should be omitted from the current proposals (at least where it would runs parallel to
the southern facade of Broadwater Apartments). On the other hand, there would be
some merit in providing a lower fence with hedging on the north side of the access
road which would at least provide a more attractive ‘softer’ boundary for residents
facing onto it, as well as some visual separation from traffic on the access road.

A Noise Management Plan amended on this basis which identifies the main sources
of noise and measures controlling them could be secured as a condition of planning
permission (as for AWDM/1008/19).

Accessibility and parking

The site is within a sustainable location within the built-up area to the east of the
town. The nearest bus stops are on Dominion Road some 400 metres distant being
a 5 minute walk - Compass Route 16 serving South Lancing,/Worthing/Tarring and
Connect 7 serving Lancing/Worthing/High Salvington). The rail station at East
Worthing is within a walkable distance some 850 metres to the south.

The proposed development will utilise the existing site entrance on Southdownview
Road to be adapted for 2-way traffic as approved by AWDM/1008/19, and with the
access road altered to provide a 6 metre wide carriageway allowing two-way vehicle
movements along its length.

The current application is supported by a Transport Statement (TS) prepared to
summarise the key transport impacts arising from the proposed increase in
floorspace compared AWDM/1008/19 (but not the broadened range of uses to
include Class B8 as initially proposed).

Indeed, paragraph 3.1.3 of the TS notes that due to the modest size of the units and
the nature of the ‘light’ commercial activities proposed, there would be little
requirement for larger articulated vehicles to enter or exit the site. Nevertheless,
drawings demonstrate that if required an articulated vehicle could turn within the
internal space and leave in a forward gear.

The proposed access arrangement would include a 1.8m wide footway along the
southern side of the access road extending from Southdownview Road to the
proposed commercial units and would be fully segregated from vehicle traffic.

The proposed site access layout would provide visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m in
accordance with the 30 mph speed limit along Southdownview Road and in
accordance with the Local Highway Authority’s previous requirements under
AWDM/1008/19. The proposed arrangement also includes an extension to existing
double yellow line road markings on the eastern side of Southdownview Road to
address a problem with parked cars affecting sightlines identified through the
previous Road Safety Audit.

47



In terms of additional traffic movements and capacity on the local highway network,
the Transport Statement submitted with the application states that the proposed
development will result in a maximum of 62 two-way vehicle movements during AM
peak hour and 55 two-way vehicle movements during the PM peak hours. This
would amount to an increase of 13 and 12 additional two-way vehicle movements
during the AM and PM peak compared to the extant scheme AWDM/10008/19,
amounting to an additional vehicle movement every 4-5 minutes.

Overall the proposal would generate around 460 two-way vehicle movements on a
daily basis, amounting to an Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) of 329 vehicle
movements. The proposed development would generate a total of 14 daily OGV
(Ordinary Goods Vehicle) movements (a mixture of light goods and heavy goods) to
10 vehicle movements AADT. This is equivalent to an increase of 3 vehicle OGV
movements (two-way) per day compared to the extant scheme.

In assessing the earlier development scheme AWDM/1008/19 the local Highway
Authority requested that the trip generation for the residential conversion of the
former EDF offices (now Broadwater Apartments) be combined with the trip
generation for the commercial development to provide a full overview of the
anticipated trip rate generation compared to the former use of the site. The submitted
TS demonstrates that compared to the historic office use of the wider site, the
combined residential and current proposed commercial development will continue to
offer a net reduction in vehicle traffic equivalent to 50 and 58 fewer movements
during the AM and PM peak hours respectively.

The proposed development, together with Broadwater Apartments, would generate a
total AADT flow of 588 vehicle movements amounting to a reduction in AADT by 94
vehicle movements compared to the former office use and resulting in a ‘betterment’
to the local highway network. The local Highway Authority has not challenged this
conclusion.

The submitted layout shows provision for 82no. car parking spaces on the site
including 11 spaces for larger vehicles (1 per unit) in front of the loading doors.

The WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments requires 1 car parking
space per 30sqm which would equate to 110 spaces (albeit it expressed as
maximum guidance). A reduction from the maximum is justified on the basis that the
site is within WSCC accessibility Zone 4 - an accessible area where it would be
appropriate to encourage travel by non-car modes. The application is supported by a
Travel Plan which includes a number of measures and incentives for users of the
site (principally staff) to encourage non-car use, including up-to-date travel/timetable
information; introduction of flexible working policies and practices to allow travel
outside peak times, discounts sought for bus and rail travel by staff; discount
purchase scheme for bikes and cycle equipment and the setting up of a car share
database with incentives/rewards for staff that car share.

A total of 22 cycle parking spaces are proposed in accordance with the WSCC
guidance at a ratio of 1 space per 150 sqm floor space.

48



The proposed layout includes a total of 20 EV charging points across the site,
including a single EV charging point for each individual commercial unit and 7
additional EV spaces for visitors (including disabled bays). However, it should be
noted that the revised Building Regulations Approved Document which came into
effect in June 2022 requires all the parking spaces to be provided with ‘Active’
charging points.

That aside, the local Highway Authority has raised no objection subject to the
recommended conditions. Having regard to the provisions set out in paragraph
110-113 of the National Planning Policy Framework it is considered there are no
justifiable highway grounds to resist the proposals.

Sustainability

The application is accompanied by a pre-assessment report to assess the potential
BREEAM score and rating for the proposed development which identifies the
development could potentially achieve a maximum BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating of
65.05%. This would accord with Policy DM16(f) which requires non-residential
development of at least 1,000 sqm to achieve BREEAM ‘Very Good’ as the minimum
rating based on the latest BREEAM scheme.

With regards to the promotion of renewable and low carbon energy development, the
applicant is willing to accept a condition requiring at least 10% of predicted total
energy requirements to be met from renewable and low carbon energy production in
accordance with policy DM17 of the modified SDWLP. This could be in the form of
solar PV roof panels and/or air source heat pumps.

Impact on Groundwater Abstraction

Southern Water raised no objection to the extant planning permission but has raised
concerns in connection with this current application on the basis of potential impact
on groundwater abstraction. The objection, particularly in light of the existing
planning permission, is disappointing. Nevertheless, the applicant has been
requested to try and address the matter and Members will be updated at the
meeting.

Other issues

An Air Quality Assessment has been carried out to provide consideration of air
quality impacts associated with the current proposal and to identify mitigation
measures to reduce the effects to an acceptable level. Undertaken in accordance
with IAQM methodology a damage cost calculation determines that the development
should include mitigation measures equal to £15,109.

The report indicates a number of proposed measures to minimise air quality impacts
associated with road traffic emissions including the provision of 21 EV charging
points and associated infrastructure at a value £127,500.

Part S of the Building Regulations (for non-residential buildings with more than 10
parking spaces) would now require provision of a minimum 11 active EV charging
spaces. The cost of installing the 10 additional EV charging spaces (beyond those

49



required under the Building Regulations) would exceed the calculated damage costs
of £15,109 and can be secured by condition.

Conclusion

The proposed development is within a sustainable location and would provide a
maximum 3,303 sqm floor area of much-needed light industrial floor space within the
designated East Worthing Industrial Area and Broadwater Business Park. As before,
it is recognised that the site access and its physical proximity to Broadwater
Apartments does not allow for an ideal interface between commercial and residential
uses. However, it is considered that as amended and subject to the recommended
measures to control noise to be secured by conditions, the potential impacts on
residential amenity would not be materially worse than for the extant scheme
AWDM/1008/19 as to justify refusal.

Recommendation

Delegate to the Head of Planning Services to APPROVE subject to the concerns
raised by Southern Water in relation to groundwater being satisfactorily addressed,
and subject to the following conditions:-

1. Standard time limit
2. Approved plans
3. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA the materials and finishes of

external walls and roofs (including windows and doors) of buildings shall
consist of those annotated on the approved plans

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General
Permitted Development Order the use of the buildings shall limited to light
industrial use (Class E(g)) of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes
Order

5.      Agree tree protection plan and measures
6. Agree hard and soft landscaping scheme to include not less than 9no

replacement (heavy standard) trees
7. No external lighting or floodlighting other than agreed in writing by LPA
8. No external working or storage outside of buildings
9. Details of finished floor/site levels to be approved
10. Remove permitted development rights for extensions and external alterations
11. No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the vehicular

access serving the development has been constructed in accordance with the
details approved by the LPA.

12. No part of the development shall be first occupied until the vehicle parking and
turning spaces have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan.
These spaces shall thereafter be retained for their designated use.

13. No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and secure
cycle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details
submitted to and approved by the LPA

50



14. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Plan shall be implemented and
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide the
following details as a minimum:
● the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during

construction,
● the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
● the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
● the loading and unloading of plant, materials, and waste,
● the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the

development,
● the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
● the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to

mitigate the impact of construction upon the public highway (including the
provision of temporary Traffic Regulation Orders),

● details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works.
15. Agree and Implement the Travel Plan
16. No part of the development shall be first occupied until visibility splays of 2.4

metres by 43 metres have been provided at the proposed site vehicular access
onto Southdownview Road in accordance with the approved plans. Once
provided the splays shall thereafter be maintained and kept free of all
obstructions over a height of 0.6 metre above adjoining carriageway level or as
otherwise agreed.

17. No development shall be occupied until a footway from the site entrance on
Southdownview Road to the eastern end of the access road has been provided
in accordance with details of its alignment, design and construction which have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.

18. No development shall be occupied unless and until a Noise Management Plan
identifying the main sources of noise and methods of controlling them has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Noise
Management Plan should specifically include measures to restrict the size of
delivery vehicles to 7.5 tonnes, restrict Forklift trucks used on the site to a low
noise electric type, require reversing alarms on Forklift trucks to be a white /
pink noise signal and a digital speed indicator sign on the access
road. Thereafter the Noise Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times
the light industrial units hereby permitted are in use.

19. No external fixed plant necessary for the implementation of the development
hereby permitted shall be installed, fitted to any building or constructed on the
site unless a noise attenuation scheme for the external fixed plant has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The scheme shall have regard
to the principles of BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 and ensure there is no detrimental
impact to the nearest residential dwellings. A test to demonstrate compliance
with the scheme shall be undertaken within one month of the scheme being
implemented. All plant shall be maintained in accordance with manufacturer's
guidance. Thereafter no external fixed plant shall be installed, fitted to any
building or constructed on the site other than in an application on that behalf.

51



20. No working, trade or business (including arrival, reception or despatch of
deliveries) shall take on the premises except between 0700hrs and 1900hrs on
Mon to Fri, and between 0800hrs and 1400hrs on Saturdays, with no work on
Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays.

21. Full investigation/remediation of potential contamination
22. All works of demolition and construction, including the use of plant and

machinery and any deliveries or collections necessary for implementation of
this consent shall be limited to between 08:00 and 18:00hrs on Monday to
Friday, between 09:00 and 13:00hrs on Saturdays and no work on Sundays or
on Bank or Public Holidays.

23. Development shall not commence, other than works of site survey and
investigation, until full details of the proposed surface water drainage scheme
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
in consultation with Southern Water. The design should follow the hierarchy of
preference for different types of surface water drainage disposal systems as set
out in Approved Document H of the Building Regulations as well as acceptable
discharge points, rates and volumes, and the recommendations of the SuDS
Manual produced by CIRIA. Winter groundwater monitoring to establish highest
annual ground water levels and winter infiltration testing to BRE DG365, or
similar approved, will be required to support the design of any infiltration
drainage. No building shall be occupied until the complete surface water
drainage system serving the property has been implemented in accordance
with the agreed details and the details so agreed shall be maintained in good
working order in perpetuity.

24. Development shall not commence until full details of the maintenance and
management of the surface water drainage system is set out in a site-specific
maintenance manual and submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local
Planning Authority. The manual is to include details of financial management
and arrangements for the replacement of major components at the end of the
manufacturer's recommended design life. Upon completed construction of the
surface water drainage system, the owner or management company shall
strictly adhere to and implement the recommendations contained within the
manual.

25. The development shall not proceed until details have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for any proposals: to
discharge flows to watercourses; or for the culverting, diversion, infilling or
obstruction of any watercourse on or adjacent to the site. Any discharge to a
watercourse must be at a rate no greater than the pre-development run-off
values. No construction is permitted, which will restrict current and future land
owners from undertaking their riparian maintenance responsibilities in respect
to any watercourse or culvert on or adjacent to the site.

26. Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the
proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water disposal have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with Southern Water.

27. Agree and implement not less than 21 active EV charging spaces and
associated infrastructure.

28. Agree and implement boundary treatments to include details of fencing and
hedging along the northern side of the access road adjoining the site boundary
with Broadwater Apartments.

52



29. Agree and implement sustainability and energy efficiency measures to achieve
a BREEAM rating no lower than ‘Very Good’.

30. Not less than 10% of predicted total energy requirements of the development to
be met from renewable and low carbon energy production in accordance with
details to be submitted and approved in writing by the LPA

53



3
Application
Number:

AWDM/1433/22 Recommendation - APPROVE

Site: Tesco Supermarket Former West Durrington Shopping Centre,
New Road, Worthing

Proposal: Variation of Condition 9 of WB/05/0245/OUT and Condition 5 of
WB/09/0146/ARM to allow an additional delivery to the Tesco
store between the hours of 11pm and 6am on a permanent
basis. Application for variation of conditions 3, 4 and 7 of
planning permission ref. AWDM/1568/17 to allow an additional
night time delivery and extended operational hours for the
home shopping facility at their store at West Durrington (both
associated with the installation of an Urban Fulfilment Centre at
the store).
Variation of condition 3 to read: Notwithstanding the wording of
condition 2, two deliveries shall be allowed between the hours
of 23:00 hours and 06:00 hours Monday to Sunday.
Variation of condition 4 to read: Loading, unloading, dispatch,
deliveries, collections or vehicle movements associated with
Dotcom deliveries shall only be undertaken between the hours
of 05:45 hours and 23:00 hours on any day and the cooling
process in relation to the Dotcom vehicles shall only be
undertaken between the hours of 05:00 hours and 23:00 hours
on any day.
Variation of Condition 7 to read: The premises shall not be open
to the public for trade of business except between the hours of
06:00 hours and 00:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 10:00
hours and 18:00 hours on Sundays.

Applicant: Mr Ben Train Ward:Northbrook
Agent: Mr Roderick MacLeod
Case Officer: Jackie Fox

54



Not to Scale
Reproduced from OS Mapping with the permission of HMSO © Crown Copyright Licence number LA100024321

Site & Surroundings

The supermarket store forms part of the redeveloped Durrington District
Neighbourhood Core & Non-Core Shopping Centre which was approved under these
planning permissions.

The application site is surrounded by residential development which lies in the roads
of Varey Road and Rees Close to the south of the site, Canberra Road to the
north-east of the site and the newly built properties which form part of the major
residential development at West Durrington to the north.

The service yard and ‘Dotcom’ facility serving the store is located directly to the
westerly rear aspect of the store and is enclosed by 4 metre high acoustic fencing to
the north and west. The acoustic barrier and tree/shrub planting to the western

55



boundary of the site adjacent to Varey Road was secured under condition 16 of the
outline permission. There are two main lorry loading bays on the westerly end of the
building which enable goods to be delivered directly from the lorry into the main
warehouse.

The entry gates are located to the north of the service yard area and delivery
vehicles are required by condition 12 of the reserved matters application to arrive
and depart the site via Fulbeck Avenue to the west.

The Proposal

The current application seeks planning permission for the variation Condition 9 of
outline planning approval WB/05/0245/OUT and Condition 5 of approval of reserved
matters application WB/09/0146/ARM as well as conditions 3,4 and 7 of
AWDM/1568/17 to allow for one additional delivery to the Tesco store between the
hours of 23:00 hours and 06:00 hours on a permanent basis and an extension to
hours of the operation of the DOTCOM deliveries.

Condition 9 of the Outline application specifies:

“No loading, unloading, deliveries or collections shall take place other than between
the hours of 06:00 hours and 23:00 hours on any day.”

Condition 5 of the Approval of Reserved Matters permission specifies:

“At no time shall delivery vehicles arrive at the site before 06:00 hours and no
delivery vehicles shall wait within the internal access road or parking areas before
this time.”

Condition 3 of AWDM/1568/17 specifies

Notwithstanding the wording of condition 2, one delivery shall be allowed
between the hours of 23:00 and 06:00 hours Monday to Sunday

Condition 4 of AWDM/1568/17 specifies

No loading, unloading, dispatch, deliveries, collections or vehicle movements
associated with Dotcom deliveries shall only be undertaken between the hours of
08:00 hours and 23:00 hours on any day and the cooling process in relation to the
Dotcom vehicles shall only be undertaken between the hours of 07:00 hours and
23:00 hours on any day.

Condition 7 of AWDM/1568/17 specifies

The premises shall not be open for trade of business except between the hours of
06:00 hours and 00:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 10:00 hours and 18:00
hours on Sundays.

56



The current opening hours of the store are also restricted to 06:00 hours to 00.00
hours Monday to Saturday and 10:00 hours to 18:00 hours on Sunday under
condition 13 of the outline approval.

This current application proposes

- Increasing the number of deliveries to the site between 23:00 hours to 6:00
hours from 1 delivery vehicle to 2 delivery vehicles

- Increasing the hours for loading, unloading, dispatch, deliveries, collections or
vehicle movements associated with Dotcom deliveries from 08:00 hours and
23:00 hours to the hours of 05:45 hours and 23:00

- Increasing the cooling process in relation to the Dotcom vehicles from 07:00
hours and 23:00 hours on any day to 05:00 hours and 23:00 hours on any day.

- The application also includes a minor change to condition 7 to clarify that the
premises shall not be open to the public for trade or business except between
the hours of 06:00 hours and 00:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 10:00
hours and 18:00 hours on Sundays.

Applicant’s Supporting Statements

These amendments to the operation of store and home deliveries are required to
allow the installation of an Urban Fulfilment Centre (UFC) within the store. This
involves the internal conversion of a proportion of the retail sales area within the
store into an automated picking and packing area for home delivery (dot com)
orders. These internal works do not require planning permission. The UFC proposals
are part of a roll out of these facilities across the UK in response to the increased
demand for home deliveries experienced during the coronavirus pandemic, and
which have resulted in material changes to customer shopping patterns. The new
facility at West Durrington will allow Tesco to significantly increase the capacity to
undertake home deliveries from the store, meaning that customers will more easily
be able to find a delivery slot to suit their requirements. It will also enhance the Click
and Collect capabilities at the site

Tesco require the vehicles to be cooled for a 45 minute period prior to loading and
departure of the vehicles in the morning. This cooling process needs to start at
05:00, with loading starting at 05:45.

In order to facilitate the operation of the proposed Urban Fulfilment Centre, Tesco
also require to bring an additional delivery vehicle to the store between the hours of
0600-2300. The existing single night time delivery typically arrives around 0100
hours, the proposed second delivery would be made around 0300 hours.

PLANNING HISTORY

There is a long planning history associated with the Tesco Store at West Durrington.
Of most relevance to the current proposals, outline planning permission (ref.
WB/05/0245/OUT) for the construction of the store was granted in May 2008.
Condition 9 of this consent prohibited deliveries to the store between the hours of
23:00 and 06:00. Reserved matters (ref. 09/0146/ARM) for the store development
was then approved in September 2009. Condition 5 of this permission repeated the

57



restriction on the arrival of deliveries to the site before 06:00 hours. Condition 4 of
this approval also introduced controls on the operation of the dotcom deliveries to
between 08:00 hours and 23:00 hours on any day, with cooling undertaken between
the hours of 07:00 hours and 23:00 hours on any day.

A subsequent Section 73 application (ref. AWDM/1242/16) to vary Condition 9 of the
outline permission and condition 5 of reserved matters approval, was then granted in
October 2016. This allowed one additional delivery to the Tesco store between the
hours of 23:00 and 06:00 for a temporary 12 month period. This was subsequently
made permanent as a result of approval of application ref. AWDM/1568/17 in
February 2018. Conditions 3 and 4 of this permission therefore exert control over
deliveries to the store and the operation of the home delivery service from the store.

PLANNING POLICY ASSESSMENT

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated in July 2021. It sets
out the Government’s planning policies and how these are expected to be applied.
With regard to retail development, paragraph 86 of the NPPF sets out that “Planning
policies and decisions should support the role that town centres play at the heart of
local communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth, management and
adaptation.” Paragraph 185 of the NPPF is also relevant to these proposals as it
covers policy in respect of noise, particularly that development should: "Mitigate and
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health
and the quality of life."

At a local level, the Worthing Core Strategy (2011) together with saved policies from
the Worthing Local Plan (2003) set out the policy context at the local level for the
determination of this planning application. Paragraph 5.13 of the Core Strategy
summarises that the overarching spatial strategy principles are “To achieve a high
level of sustainability in the borough, maintain, protect and (where appropriate)
enhance open spaces, protect heritage and conservation areas and ensure all
communities have access to appropriate housing, employment opportunities,
services and facilities”.

The Tesco store at West Durrington lies within the West Durrington District Retail
Centre. Policy 6 of the Core Strategy requires development to meet the needs of the
area served by the Centre and to be of a scale appropriate to the Centre so as to
avoid adversely impacting on the vitality or viability of other nearby retail centres.
The policy also seeks to encourage the hierarchy of town, district and local retail
centres by encouraging convenient and accessible district and local shopping
facilities to meet day to day needs of residents and contribute to social inclusion.

We contend that the proposed installation of the Urban Fulfilment Centre at the
Tesco store at West Durrington will meet both the spatial strategy and policy principle
by improving local access to retail facilities for local residents. In particular, the
proposals will improve the ability of those with mobility difficulties to access local
shopping facilities, and will therefore contribute to social inclusion.

58



Retained policy H18 of the Worthing Local Plan is also relevant to the proposals as it
has regard to the protection of residential amenity. It sets out that “Development,
including changes of use and intensification, which would result in an unacceptable
reduction in amenity for local residents will not be permitted”.

In order to demonstrate compliance with the prevailing policy context, Tesco have
commissioned an Environmental Noise Assessment (which accompanies this
application) to assess the impact of the proposals on residential amenity. This
demonstrates that, in the context of nationally recognised standards and planning
guidance, predicted noise levels from delivery and home shopping activity during the
proposed extended hours periods would not give rise to significant adverse impact.
The proposals are therefore considered to comply with and hence would comply with
the requirements of both the NPPF and retained Policy H18 of the Worthing Local
Plan

Concluding Remarks

Tesco Stores Ltd seek permission for the variation of conditions 3 and 4 of planning
permission ref. AWDM/1568/17 to allow an additional night time delivery and
extended operational hours for the home shopping facility at their store at West
Durrington. This will allow the installation of a new Urban Fulfilment Centre at the
store which will meet increased demand for home deliveries locally.

I trust that the application is satisfactory, and look forward to receiving confirmation
from you when it has been registered. Please do not hesitate to get in touch should
you require any further information

Relevant Planning History

WB/05/0245/OUT – Outline Application approved in 2008 for the redevelopment of
the existing district centre to provide a new district centre incorporating a Tesco
superstore, shopper cafe, unit shops, community centre and associated car parking
and access arrangements.

WB/05/1097/FULL – Planning permission refused in 2005 for the erection of a
temporary single storey 'Dot-Com' home shopping facility to rear of existing store.

WB/09/0331/FULL – Planning permission approved in 2009 for change of use of
single car parking space to house steel cabin for the storage of supplies in
connection with hand car valeting operation.

WB/09/0146/ARM - Application for Approval of Reserved Matters following Outline
Approval WB/05/0245/OUT approved in 2009 for the redevelopment of the existing
district centre to provide a new district centre incorporating a Tesco superstore,
shopper cafe, unit shops, community centre and associated car parking and access
arrangements (including diversion of public footpath)

WB/09/0146/ARM/NMA1 - Application for non-material amendments following a
grant of planning permission WB/09/0146/ARM approved in 2010 for redevelopment
of the district centre to provide a new district centre incorporating a Tesco

59



Superstore. Amendments include; change to position of doors (generally), changes
to door styles (generally), updated main entrance glazing (centre of east elevation),
plant screen return indicated (left side of east elevation), roofline alteration to stair
pod (south and west elevation), amended cladding colour (right side of south
elevation), horizontal cladding changed to vertical spanning at change in roof level
(left side of west elevation), curtain walling height reduced over mall MOE doors (left
side of north elevation) and panel of curtain walling removed/re-arranged doors (left
side of north elevation).

WB/09/0146/ARM/NMA2 - Application for non-material amendments following grant
of planning permission WB/09/0146/ARM approved in 2010 for redevelopment of the
district centre to provide a new district centre incorporating a Tesco Superstore.
Amendments include; change of appearance of cycle shelter and covered trolley
bays.

WB/09/1022/FULL – Planning permission approved in 2010 for erection of canopy to
cover part of pedestrian walkway in car park of new district centre.

WB/09/0925/FULL - Retrospective application approved in 2009 for the erection of 3
metre high close boarded timber fence on land within Tesco site and rear of 43-49
Canberra Road and along western side of the garden of 49 Canberra Road.

WB/10/0074/FULL – Planning permission approved in 2010 for the provision of a
new Community Centre and associated site works involving demolition of the
existing Centre and relocation to the east of the new Tesco Store Development car
park.

AWDM/0569/12 – Planning permission approved in 2012 for 12 non-illuminated
fascia signs in connection with proposed car wash (AWDM/0570/12).

AWDM/0570/12 – Planning permission approved in 2012 for the change of use of
nine parking spaces to a hand car wash and valeting operation including the erection
of a canopy and installation of an office.

AWDM/0605/14 – Planning permission was sought in 2014 to vary condition 13 of
WB/05/0245/OUT (Construction of new Tesco store) to vary the hours of opening to
be 24 hours. This application is currently undetermined after being held in abeyance
pending agreement to new conditions and Applicant liaison with local residents.

AWDM/1242/16- Variation of Condition 9 of WB/05/0245/OUT and Condition 5 of
WB/09/0146/ARM to allow an additional delivery to the Tesco store between the
hours of 2300 and 0600. The condition was varied but only for a temporary period of
12 months until 7th November 2017.

AWDM/1568/17 Variation of Condition 9 of WB/05/0245/OUT and Condition 5 of
WB/09/0146/ARM to allow an additional delivery to the Tesco store between the
hours of 11pm and 6am on a permanent basis.

60



Consultations

WSCC Highways

The LHA originally requested further information to understand the additional vehicle
changes. Following the submission of further information that the LHA raised no
objections

Adur and Worthing Councils:

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has no objections to the variation of the
planning conditions

Representations

10 Varey Road -

My property backs on to the delivery area of Tesco and the noise levels are high. If
the lorries start reversing and unloading I have to close all of the windows at the
back of the house (not ideal in the summer months). Plus the noise of the staff
shouting to one another, playing music and pressing the horns of the delivery
vehicles. If there were to be more deliveries particularly early in the morning this
would inevitably interrupt our sleep. I absolutely object to the extra delivery

18 Primrose Place -

It will disturb my sleep as I live directly opposite this entrance and during the day it's
noisy enough.

Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Saved Local Plan policies (WBC 2003):   H18, TR9, RES7
Worthing Core Strategy (WBC 2011): Policy 1,6
National Planning Policy Framework (HCLG 2021)
National Planning Practice Guidance

Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan ( as modified)

DM5 - Quality of the Built Environment
DM10 - ECONOMIC GROWTH AND SKILLS
DM11- Protecting and enhancing employment sites
DM13 - RETAIL AND TOWN CENTRE USES
DM15 - SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT & ACTIVE TRAVEL
DM22 - POLLUTION

Relevant Legislation

The Committee should consider the planning application in accordance with:

61



Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides that
the application may be granted either unconditionally or subject to relevant
conditions, or refused. Regard shall be given to relevant development plan policies,
any relevant local finance considerations, and other material considerations. s73 of
the 1990 Act allows for the variation of permissions.

Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that requires the
decision to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning Assessment

Principle

The supermarket store lies within the West Durrington District Retail Centre. Policy 6
of the Core Strategy requires development to meet the needs of the area served by
the Centre and to be of a scale appropriate to the Centre so as to avoid adversely
impacting on the vitality or viability of other nearby retail centres. The policy also
seeks to encourage the hierarchy of town, district and local retail centres by
encouraging convenient and accessible district and local shopping facilities to meet
day to day needs of residents and contribute to social exclusion.

Policy DM 13 states that within District Centres and Local Centres the policy
approach seeks to encourage convenient and accessible local shopping facilities
that are of a scale appropriate to the role and function of the centre to meet day to
day needs of residents, and contribute to social inclusion.

The principle of the replacement supermarket store was established under outline
consent WB/05/0245/OUT and approval of reserved matters consent
WB/09/0146/ARM in which the hours of deliveries were restricted by condition 9 of
the outline approval between 06:00 hours and 23:00 hours and delivery vehicles
were restricted under condition 5 of the reserved matters approval to not arrive at the
site before 06:00 hours or wait within the internal access roads or parking areas
before this time. The hours were extended and an additional vehicle delivery allowed
on a permanent basis under AWDM/1568/17.

The supermarket chain now seeks planning permission to vary these conditions
further to allow for one further additional delivery during the night between 23:00
hours and 06:00 hours and increase the hours associated with the DOTCOM activity.

The principle of extending the delivery times and additional delivery vehicle of this
supermarket in this sustainable District Centre location is supportable subject to the
proposal not significantly harming adjoining residents living conditions or having a
harmful impact on the local highway network.

Impact to residential amenity

There are two aspects to this application, the additional night time delivery and
increase in DOTCOM activity.

62



In terms of the additional delivery, Tesco has carried out one additional delivery
during the hours of 23:00 hours and 6:00 hours since approx 2016 without known
complaints.

Due to changing operational requirements Tesco are now seeking to secure a
second night time delivery. The existing single night time delivery typically arrives
around 0100 hours, the proposed second delivery would be made around 0300
hours. In overall noise level terms, the proposed second delivery would be no noisier
than the single permitted delivery.

An acoustic report has been submitted with the application which updates the
assessment report submitted with the previous applications. A baseline noise survey
was undertaken between Monday 4th July and Tuesday 5th July 2022. Two
measurement locations were used; location A was selected to be representative of
the closest properties to the south of the store in Varey Road and Rees Close, whilst
location B was selected to be representative of the noise climate at the properties in
Primrose Place to the north.

The intent of the planning system is to ensure that a development does not result in
“significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life.” BS 4142:2014 considers
that the threshold of significant adverse impact is “a difference around +10 dB or
more … depending upon the context”. The NPPF and NPPG state that where a
noise level which falls between a level which represents the lowest observable
adverse effect and a level which represents a significant observed adverse effect,
then according to the explanatory notes in the statement “…all reasonable steps
should be taken to mitigate and minimise adverse effects in health and quality of life
while together taking into account the guiding principles of sustainable development.
This does not mean that adverse effects cannot occur but that effort should be
focused on minimising such effect

BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 introduces the concept of ‘context’ to the process of
identifying noise impact. Section 11 of BS 4142:2014 explains “The significance of
sound of an industrial and/or commercial nature depends upon both the margin by
which the rating level of the specific sound source exceeds the background sound
level and the context in which the sound occurs (our emphasis). An effective
assessment cannot be conducted without an understanding of the reason(s) for the
assessment and the context in which the sound occurs/will occur.

The delivery activity noise surveys all indicate peak noise levels, generally, well
below the World Health Organisation (WHO) night time peak noise guideline value of
60 dB LAmax (above which the onset of sleep disturbance may occur). The survey
results would indicate that noise associated with the currently permitted single night
time delivery is complying with the requirement of paragraph 185 of the NPPF and
avoiding giving rise to significant adverse impact.

The comparison of predicted noise levels compare favourably to the measured noise
levels at the properties in Primrose Place/Varey Road . The predicted delivery event
noise levels are well below the WHO CNG night time values; and hence would be
indicative of low impact. Predicted delivery activity noise levels can also be

63



compared to the existing ambient noise climate to consider the change in ambient
noise level.

The impact classification in the context of change in ambient noise level for delivery
activity occurring between 2300 and 0700 hours is low and hence the overall the
report assessment objectively demonstrates that when considered in context, an
additional second nighttime delivery could be received without associated noise
giving rise to significant adverse impact; which is the planning test in accordance
with the NPPF.

In terms of noise from home shopping activity, Tesco proposes that up to nine of their
home shopping delivery vehicles (HSDV) would be cooled, via electric hook up, from
0500 hours, within the existing home shopping loading bays in the service yard.
Following this cooling phase the first 9 HSDV would then be loaded with customer
orders, and parked up prior to departure. Whilst the first 9 HSDV are being loaded,
the second 8 HSDV commence cooling.

The assessment of home shopping activity noise would typically be undertaken in
accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019, since the principle noise source is from the
refrigeration plant. However, given that the proposed operating hours fall within the
night time period, guideline noise values in consideration of internal receptor
locations should also be considered in determining noise impact. For noise that may
occur at night, BS 4142 requires the assessment to be considered to a 15 minute
time base. Hence the assessment considers three principle scenarios on the basis of
the proposed home shopping operation schedule. 9x HSDV on cooling phase; 9x
HSDV are being loaded at the same time that the second 8 HSDV are cooling (as
proposed to occur from 0545 to 0630 hours);

The noise consultants obtained noise data for the home shopping activities at
several existing superstores. In noise terms there are two activities: firstly, there is
the period when the HSDV on-board refrigeration equipment is used to provide the
initial cooling of the refrigerated section which takes about 45 minutes, secondly,
there is a further 45 minute period where the HSDV is being loaded, along with
intermittent operation of the on board refrigeration unit.. The noise of the refrigeration
equipment is continuous 57 dB, normalised to 10 metres. After this, the loading
commences and during this activity the refrigeration equipment operates for about
20% of the time which gives a noise level of 50 dB at 10 metres.

The consultants indicate that although the BS 4142 assessment for the cooling
phase occurring at 0500 hours is indicative of adverse impact, this is not a significant
adverse impact, which is the planning test. Furthermore the result of the BS 4142
assessment is now required to be considered in ‘context’, particularly since the
receptor location at this time will be inside properties. The most appropriate
assessment method for noise that occurs at night, for internal receptors, is the
consideration of absolute noise levels in relation to guideline noise values. The
predicted rating noise levels are within the WHO guideline noise values.

The assessment indicates that when noise from proposed home shopping activities
occurring from 0500 hours are considered in context the associated noise impact is
low.

64



The noise assessment recommends the follow measures shall be implemented at all
times to reduce noise levels from service yard activity:

● There will be adequate signage and instruction to ensure that all drivers and
staff follow the noise management measures;

● All engines to be switched off as soon as vehicles are parked up within the
service yard;

● All delivery and home shopping delivery vehicles (HSDV) to be driven in as
quiet a manner as possible, avoiding unnecessary engine revving;

● No radios or stereos to be left on in vehicles whilst in the service yard or vicinity
of the store;

● Staff to be instructed to work quietly when outside the store or in the service
yard - only performing essential tasks where noise could be generated;

● All components of the delivery system to be maintained in good working order

An updated ‘Service Yard Management Plan’ has been requested to reflect extended
hours and further recommendations of the acoustic consultants.

The acoustic report supports that the noise associated with the additional lorry
movement and increased night time operation to service the DOTCOM element
would be within an acceptable noise tolerance for night time activity.

The Environmental Health Officer has not raised any objections, as such it is
considered that with the noise assessment and recommendation that the proposal
would not cause a detrimental impact on neighbouring properties.

Traffic Implications & Highway Safety

The proposal would involve one additional delivery lorry accessing the service yard
from Fulbeck Avenue to the west between the hours of 23:00 hours and 06:00 hours
daily. As the delivery vehicle would be accessing and exiting the site during the night
time period it is anticipated that the surrounding roads to the south and west would
be less busy. The County Council Highways Authority has confirmed that one
additional delivery and the increase in the DOTCOM activity would not cause any
concern from a road capacity or highways safety perspective.

Sustainability

The application involves a variation to conditions to an existing development. The
changes in operational requirement to provide an additional delivery and service the
DOMCOM would potentially lessen the number of individual journeys to the store
and support sustainable life choices.

65



Recommendation

APPROVE

Subject to Conditions:-

1. Approved Plans
2. No loading, unloading, deliveries, collections or associated delivery vehicle

movements shall take place on the site (including the access road to the north
of the store or parking areas) other than between the hours of 06.00 hours and
23.00 hours on any day.

3. Notwithstanding the wording of condition 2, two deliveries shall be allowed
between the hours of 23:00 hours and 6:00 hours Monday to Sunday.

4. No loading, unloading, dispatch, deliveries, collections or vehicle movements
associated with Dotcom deliveries shall only be undertaken between the hours
of 05:45 hours and 23:00 hours on any day and the cooling process in relation
to the Dotcom vehicles shall only be undertaken between the hours of 05:00
hours and 23:00 hours on any day.

5. All delivery/collection vehicles serving the supermarket shall only arrive and
depart from the western access off Fulbeck Avenue, other than Dotcom
vehicles being moved from the parking area to the east of the District Centre to
the delivery yard. The acoustic gates to the Delivery Yard shall be kept closed
at all times when not in use to allow ingress or egress of a delivery vehicle.

6. At all times deliveries to the store shall be made in full compliance with the
details of the Service Yard Management Plan.

7. The premises shall not be open to the public for trade or business except
between the hours of 06:00 hours and 00:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and
10:00 hours and 18:00 hours on Sundays.

8. Retention of shop window display – east and north elevations.
9. Surface water sewer from parking areas and hard standings susceptible to oil

contamination must be passed through an oil separator designed and
constructed to have a capacity compatible with the site being drained. Roof
water shall not pass through the interceptor. On-going maintenance of the
interceptor shall be provided in accordance with the manufacturer’s
instructions.

10. Development retained in accordance with the previously approved scheme to
mitigate the loss of habitat caused by the proposed development on the
watercourse.

11. Development retained in accordance with the approved details for buffer zone
alongside the watercourse to the west of the site.

12. Development to be retained in accordance with approved details relating to the
wall around the substation/transformer, the fence around the Dotcom parking
area to the south of Canberra Road and the acoustic fence to the rear of No.’s
45 to 49 Canberra Road.

13. Development retained in accordance with approved parking provision and
maneuvering areas shown on the approved phasing plan. The approved
parking and maneuvering areas shall thereafter be only used for this purpose.

66



14. Development retained in accordance with approved details for the loading and
unloading of vehicles and parking of delivery vehicles and this space shall not
thereafter be used for any purpose other than for the purposes for which it is
provided.

15. No external lighting or flood lighting shall be installed.
16. Development retained in accordance with the approved ventilation system for

the extraction and disposal of cooking odours.
17. Development retained in accordance with the previously approved landscaping

scheme.
18. Development retained in accordance with the approved acoustic barrier and

associated tree and shrub planting along the boundary of the site parallel with
Varey Road.

19. Any facilities, above ground for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals, shall be
sited on an impervious base and surrounded by impervious walls. The volume
of the bunded compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the
tank plus 10%. All filing points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be
located within the bund. The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with
no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated
pipework should be located above ground and protected from accidental
damage. All filling points and tank overflow pipe outlets should be detailed to
discharge into the bund. Such facilities shall be constructed and completed in
accordance with plans approved by the Local Planning Authority.

20. No additional floorspace shall be provided within the store, including any
mezzanine floor, without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority in an
application on that behalf.

21. The level of convenience floor space within the Tesco superstore shall not
exceed 3,750 square metres unless approved by the Local Planning Authority
in an application on that behalf.

22. The approved District Centre in addition to the superstore floorspace referred to
in condition 21 shall provide a minimum of 2,765 square metres for unit shops
and shopper café. These unit shops/café shall be located outside of the
superstore retail area (i.e. beyond the till area).

67



4
Application Number: AWDM/1554/21 Recommendation - To delegate to the

Head of Planning to APPROVE subject
to the completion of a s106 agreement

Site: 19 Manor Road, Worthing, West Sussex, BN11 3RT

Proposal: Application to Vary Condition 1 of previously approved
AWDM/0762/19. Amendments: position of lift shaft,
reconstructed wall in fair face brick along Manor Road,
refuse/recycle store relocated, alterations to approved
balconies and new feature stone frame around window
on south eastern corner. Proposed Car Port over 6no
parking spaces, photovoltaic panels and electric car
charging points

Applicant: Mr P Le Ward:Heene
Agent: Rodway Planning Consultancy Limited
Case Officer: Jackie Fox

Not to Scale
Reproduced from OS Mapping with the permission of HMSO © Crown Copyright Licence number LA100024321

68



Introduction

The application came before Members on the 16th February 2022, where members
agreed the variation to condition 1 subject to a S106 legal agreement to secure a
contribution to affordable housing. The S106 has not been signed and the applicants
have now made further amendments which requires this application to be reconsidered.

Site and Surroundings

The site contained a single detached dwelling, accessed from Manor Road with an
off-street parking area to the front, and a landscaped rear garden.

The site is within a largely residential area of Worthing (the only apparent
non-residential use nearby is a nursery school on the opposite side of the road, within a
former dwelling). The residential uses are varied, with a number of Edwardian/Victorian
properties (those on the opposite side of the road are within the Ivy Place Conservation
Area), as well as more modern flats.

The flats to the north of the site (Shrewsbury Court) are part two storey/part three
storey with a pitched roof. This building abuts the application site at ground floor level
with a covered parking area, and is separated by a garage length (about 6m) from the
site boundary at first and second floor levels. There are four clear-glazed windows in
the side elevation facing the application site; the building has balconies and windows to
the front, and further windows to the rear.

The flats to the south of the site (Sheldon Court) are three storey with a flat roof,
forming part of a development of 3 apartment buildings with shared garden, access and
garaging. There are no windows in the side elevation of the nearest block facing the
application site, but there are clear glazed windows to both front and rear elevations of
Sheldon Court. The nearest building is separated from the application site by a private
access driveway and grass verge.

Proposal

The application which has been amended since originally submitted is a variation to
planning permission AWDM/0762/19 to provide 10 one and two bedroom apartments.

The original amendments included:

● Moving the position of the lift from the northern end of the building slightly further
into the centre of the building. The subsequent internal amendments involve
some changes to the configuration of the flats.

● Changing the design of the cantilever balconies to the front and rear elevations
and enclosing the balconies with metal railings rather than solid construction
previously

● Changes to the balcony window fenestration
● Obscure glazed windows to north elevation (serving bathrooms)

69



● New entrance porch surround and door
● New wall to the frontage in brick and flint stone detail
● Move the bin stores to the front of the property and enclose with a light timber

pergola.
● Redesign and adjust the position of the cycle store at the rear
● Increase the height of development by 240mm
● Addition of an automatic opening vent to the flat roof.

These elements have previously been agreed by Members.

The additional proposal is for a carport over 6 parking spaces, photovoltaic panels and
electric car charging points.

The car port measures 15.7m x 5.165 m and covers the existing proposed six open
spaces at the rear of the site. The car port would be timber framed with a slatted screen
to the north and west sides. Electric charging points would be provided to each parking
space. The roof would contain 12 photovoltaic panels.

Relevant Planning History

Application 03/01419/FULL permitted the change of use of the building from two flats to
a single dwellinghouse. The site appears to be in use as a single dwellinghouse.

PREAPP/1079/17- Demolition of existing house and erection of 13 flats (4 x 2 bed, 9 x
1 bed)

PREAPP/0381/18- Demolition of existing house and erection of 13 Flats comprising
6no. x 2 bed flats and 7no. x 1 bed flats

PREAPP/0673/18- Demolition of existing building and erection of 10 flats with parking.

AWDM/0762/19-Demolition of existing building and replacement with 10no. one and
two bedroom apartments set over four floors, with balconies to West, East and South
elevations, accessed from Manor Road with parking for 6no. cars.- APPROVED

Consultations

West Sussex County Council:

Flood Risk- We have no comments to submit for this application to vary this condition.
Please note that Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 has not yet
been implemented and WSCC does not currently expect to act as the SuDS Approval
Body (SAB) in this matter. (

No further comments received

70



Highways – No objections to the application.

No further comments received

Southern Water: No objections subject to informatives for connection to the sewer

Adur & Worthing Councils:

The Environmental Health Officer- With reference to the above application, the
moving of the lift plant room to beneath the stairs brings this noise source closer to a
residential bedroom of Flat 1.

To protect residential amenity I would advise the following conditions.

1. The use hereby permitted shall not commence unless and until an insulation scheme
for protecting the northern bedroom of Flat 1 from lift plant room noise has been
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The scheme shall achieve
the maximum recommended noise levels within the living accommodation due to lift
operation specified in Table 5 section 7.7.3.4.1 of BS8233:2014. Following approval
and completion of the scheme, a test shall be undertaken to demonstrate that the
attenuation measures proposed in the scheme are effective and achieve the specified
criteria.

2. The lift motor and associated equipment should be installed on suitable anti-vibration
mountings to prevent the transmission of excessive vibration and/or structure-borne
noise to any parts of the living accommodation.

No further comments received

The Private Sector Housing officer has no comments

Drainage Engineer - We have no comments on this application. We would like to take
this opportunity to highlight to the applicant that we have a surface water drainage
checklist which details our requirements for discharge of conditions applications. The
checklist can be found here:
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-fees-forms.

No further comments received

Representations

One letter of objection from a resident of Shrewsbury Court who considered it was
inappropriate to have bins on the frontage and would impact on the aesthetics of the
road and the development itself.

One further letter has been received following re advertising from 6 Manor Road

71

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-fees-forms
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-fees-forms


We have concerns in regards to the parking in Manor Road that will only be made
worse by this development. There are insufficient car parking spaces for the number of
apartments being planned and in general anyway, there is on average more than one
car per household now. At present, Manor Road is not a parking permit area which
means non-residents park here when working in Worthing or day trippers to the area. It
is very difficult for existing residents to find parking for their vehicles now and the spill
out from the under provisioning of spaces for this new development will only make this
worse. We would only remove our objection if the Council supported a parking permit
area to be made active for this end of Manor Road. That way we can handle the
requirements for residents only and not commuters working in the area or visitors in
general.

Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Saved Local Plan policies (WBC 2003):  H18, TR9, RES7
Worthing Core Strategy (WBC 2011): Policy 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19
National Planning Policy Framework ( 2021)
National Planning Practice Guidance
Guide to Residential development SPD (WBC 2013)
Space Standards SPD (WBC 2012)
Worthing Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
West Sussex County Council Guidance on Parking at New Developments May 2019
Developer Contributions SPD (July 2015)

Submission Draft Worthing Local Plan 2020-2036 ( as modified):

SP1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development)
SP2 (Climate Change)
DM1 (Housing Mix)
DM2 (Density) DM3 (Affordable Housing)
DM5 (Quality of the Built Environment)
DM6 (Public Realm)
DM9 (Delivering Infrastructure)
DM15 (Sustainable travel and Active Travel)
DM16 (Sustainable Design)
DM20 (Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage)
DM21 (Water Quality and Sustainable Water Use)

Relevant Legislation

The Committee should consider the planning application in accordance with:

Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides that the
application may be granted either unconditionally or subject to relevant conditions, or
refused. S73 of the Act also allows for variations to approved schemes. Regard shall

72



be given to relevant development plan policies, any relevant local finance
considerations, and other material considerations; and

Section 73A and also Section 72 Planning (Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act
1990 which require the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the appearance of the Conservation Area.

Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that requires the decision
to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.

Planning Assessment

The principle of redevelopment of the site has been accepted and the amendments to
condition 1 reported early this year. The key considerations are the impact of the car
port on the visual amenity of the proposed building, the street scene and any
residential amenity.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area including the conservation
area.

In terms of the appearance of the development, the existing dwelling is not of any
special architectural interest, but its scale and form does respect the pattern of
development within the Conservation Area on the opposite side of Manor Road.

To the south, Sheldon Court, comprises 3 x three storey flat roofed buildings wrapping
around the corner with Bath Road. It has only a small parking area to its Manor Road
frontage, which is mainly landscaped to provide an attractive setting for the building.
The majority of the parking and garages are to the rear with access points from Manor
Road and Bath Road.

To the north Shrewsbury Court is a more modern three story block with undercroft
parking accessed from Manor Road. It has a pitched roof.

On the opposite side of the road within the Ivy Road conservation area comprises a mix
of traditional Edwardian style dwellings with landscaped front gardens and general
space about the building.

Good quality design and architectural composition is required by policy 16, this is
elevated to high quality in the NPPF. Development which may affect heritage assets
such as conservation areas and listed buildings should sustain and enhance them and
make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness.

The proposed carport would be at the rear of the site and although partially visible due
to the existing access would not be unduly prominent in the street scene and would be
seen in context with existing garages associated with Seldon Court to the south. The
car port  would not be visually obtrusive in the street scene.

73



The Ivy Place Conservation Area statement indicates that in Manor Road in general
there are relatively wide streets, generous spaces about the buildings and recessed
building lines all of which serve to convey a sense of spaciousness in the area.

The carport would be of a light timber construction with photovoltaic panels to the roof,
it is considered the proposed amendments to be of an appropriate design consistent
with the mixed style and character of locality, and as such would not detract from the
visual amenity of the area and sustain and enhance the Conservation Area.

Residential Amenity

The carport would be positioned to the rear of the site with part of the rear garden of a
property in Rowlands Road to the west, gardens of Shrewsbury Court to the north and
the access to Seldon Court and garages to the south. The site was previously shown
for parking for 6 vehicles.

The building would be a timber construction enclosed to the south and west elevation.
There would be photovoltaic panels above. The carport is some distance from the
dwellings associated with the property in Rowlands Road and Shrewsbury Court. The
height and materials would ensure that it would not cause loss of light or visual impact
to neighbouring residential properties.

A neighbouring property has raised concerns about parking and the adequacy of
parking for the proposed development. However the application would not decrease the
number of parking spaces previously approved for the development and would provide
for a more sustainable parking solution.

Affordable Housing

Following negotiations the scheme provided a contribution of (£45,375) (index linked)
towards affordable housing.

There are no changes to the size of the development and the contribution would remain
as set out above. A variation to the legal agreement is required to update it to the
amended scheme.

Sustainability

The proposals involve a carport with electric changing points and photovoltaic panels,
both of which are sustainable options in accordance with policy.

74



Recommendation

To delegate the decision to the Head of Planning and Development to APPROVE
subject to the completion of variation to the Section 106 agreement to secure an
affordable housing contribution and the following conditions:

1. Time to implement
2. Approved plans and documents
3. Agree and implement surface water drainage details.
4. Development in accordance with the drainage report
5. Construction method statement including hours of construction, dust suppression

and emissions
6. Agree external materials, finishes and architectural details
7. Provide parking and access
8. Provide cycle storage
9. Details and implement hard and soft landscaping
10. Agree, implement biodiversity plan
11. Obscure glaze north facing windows no opening below 1.7m above finished floor

levels
12. Agree, implement a sound insulation scheme between floors and northern

bedroom of Flat 1 from lift plant room noise (amended)
13. Noise emitted from the lift cabinet does not exceed 62dB LAeq at 1m and anti

vibration mounts (amended)
14. Agree, implement and retain balcony details
15. Agree implement boundary treatment

14 December 2022
Local Government Act 1972
Background Papers:

As referred to in individual application reports

Contact Officers:

Jo Morin
Principal Planning Officer (Development Management)
Town hall
01903 221350
jo.morin@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Jackie Fox
Senior Planning Officer (Development Management)
Town Hall
01903 221312
jacqueline.fox@adur-worthing.gov.uk

75

mailto:jo.morin@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:jacqueline.fox@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Schedule of other matters

1.0 Council Priority

1.1 As referred to in individual application reports, the priorities being:-
- to protect front line services
- to promote a clean, green and sustainable environment
- to support and improve the local economy
- to work in partnerships to promote health and wellbeing in our communities
- to ensure value for money and low Council Tax

2.0 Specific Action Plans

2.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

3.0 Sustainability Issues

3.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

4.0 Equality Issues

4.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

5.0 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

5.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

6.0 Human Rights Issues

6.1 Article 8 of the European Convention safeguards respect for family life
and home, whilst Article 1 of the First Protocol concerns non-interference with
peaceful enjoyment of private property. Both rights are not absolute and
interference may be permitted if the need to do so is proportionate, having
regard to public interests. The interests of those affected by proposed
developments and the relevant considerations which may justify interference
with human rights have been considered in the planning assessments
contained in individual application reports.

7.0 Reputation

7.1 Decisions are required to be made in accordance with the Town &
Country Planning Act 1990 and associated legislation and subordinate
legislation taking into account Government policy and guidance (and see 6.1
above and 14.1 below).

76



8.0 Consultations

8.1 As referred to in individual application reports, comprising both
statutory and non-statutory consultees.

9.0 Risk Assessment

9.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

10.0 Health & Safety Issues

10.1 As referred to in individual application reports.

11.0 Procurement Strategy

11.1 Matter considered and no issues identified.

12.0 Partnership Working

12.1 Matter considered and no issues identified.

13.0 Legal

13.1 Powers and duties contained in the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) and associated legislation and statutory instruments.

14.0 Financial implications

14.1 Decisions made (or conditions imposed) which cannot be substantiated
or which are otherwise unreasonable having regard to valid planning
considerations can result in an award of costs against the Council if the
applicant is aggrieved and lodges an appeal. Decisions made which fail to
take into account relevant planning considerations or which are partly based
on irrelevant considerations can be subject to judicial review in the High Court
with resultant costs implications.

77



This page is intentionally left blank



Worthing Planning Committee
14 December 2022
Agenda Item no.8

Ward: Broadwater

GlaxoSmithKline, Southdownview Road,  Worthing

Report by the Director for Economy

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report seeks to support GSK’s request to the Land Tribunal to remove a
restrictive covenant on an area of land to the east of the original
pharmaceutical buildings incorporating the Company's sports facilities and
playing fields.

2.0 Background

2.1 On the 22nd July 1969 the Council granted planning permission for a light
industrial building on the land edged blue on the plan below. In granting this
permission the Council wanted to restrict any development on the sports
pitches on the red edged area (reference S/27/69).

79

Agenda Item 8



2.2 Since that time various planning permissions have been granted on both the
blue and red edged areas of land notwithstanding the restrictive covenants. In
2014 planning permission was granted for a new pharmaceutical production
building and the provision of a temporary staff car park on the existing football
pitch (reference AWDM/0311/14). A condition was imposed requiring the
re-provision of the football pitch within two years. The plan below identifies the
land and the temporary car park. The temporary permission for the car park
was extended on 3 separate occasions (expiring in 2022). The football pitch
has now been re-stated in accordance with the last permission.

2.3 In connection with the emerging Local Plan, GSK was keen to extend the
Broadwater employment site to include land to the south and west of the, now
re-provided football pitch and to remove the restrictive covenants on the land.
Your Officers supported this approach and the site is now included in the Local
Plan due to be adopted on the 13th December at the Council meeting.

80



2.4 The Local Plan effectively regularises various planning permissions granted
over the years albeit the restrictive covenant remains on the land. Your Officers
wrote to GSK last year and advised that the Council would have no objection to
a variation of the original legal agreement provided that the restriction remained
on the re-provided football pitch (retaining the green land below). Sport
England was keen to see the retention of the pitch and it is included in the
Councils Playing Pitch Strategy.

2.5 Unfortunately, it is less than straightforward to vary a legal agreement entered
into before 1991. Prior to this date legal agreements operated both as charge
on the land (registrable as a local land charge) and charge or notice against the
registered title at the Land Registry. Subsequently s106a of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 does now empower LPA’s to modify a planning
obligation. Earlier agreements can only be varied or discharged if the
landowner applies to the Land Tribunal to discharge the restrictive covenant.

2.6 Whilst it might be possible to enter into an agreement outside of s106, in the
event the original contracting parties remain the same, there may still be a
need for GSK to seek the discharge of the 1969 restrictive covenants either
through the Land Tribunal or Upper Tribunal.

3.0 Proposals

3.1 Although it is apparent that GSK need to pursue this matter with the Land
Tribunal it is important to regularise the position and it is considered that a
formal Committee resolution supporting the discharge of the now outdated
restrictive covenants would assist GSK and avoid any future difficulties bringing
additional employment land forward on the site.

81



4.0 Legal

4.1 s106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 only empowers the LPA to
modify a planning obligation. A planning obligation is defined under S106 as a
planning obligation for the purposes of S106 of the 1990 Act only (see section
106(1) and section 106(9)(a)). Planning obligations are s106 deeds completed
on or after 25 October 1991 pursuant to s106 of the 1990 Act.

4.2 In the event it is possible to agree outside of s106; the owner may still need to
apply to the Lands Tribunal to discharge the restrictive covenant under the
1969 deed. This is because any planning agreement made pre 25 October
1991 under the Town and Country Planning Act 1971 (s52) operated both as a
charge on the land registrable in the register of local land charges and as a
land charge Class D(ii) or notice against the registered title to the land as noted
at the Land Registry.

4.3 The Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) may discharge a restrictive covenant if
the restriction is obsolete or if the discharge will not harm the people entitled to
benefit from it e.g. the LPA.

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 There are no financial implications in this matter and if the Council was required
to enter into a separate agreement with GSKL outside the provisions of the
Planning Acts, the Council would seek to recover any costs incurred.

6.0 Recommendation

6.1 The Planning Committee is requested to support GSK and to agree to the
removal of the restrictive covenants on the land due to be allocated for
additional employment with any restrictions only remaining on the football pitch
indicated in green on the plan included at para 2.4 of this report.

Local Government Act 1972
Background Papers:

Planning Application - S/27/69 and accompanying agreement under s37 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1962

82



Planning Application AWDM/0311/14 - Construction of new pharmaceutical
production building incorporating 3 manufacturing modules including use of existing
football pitch on east side of site as a temporary staff car park..

Contact Officer:

James Appleton
Head of Planning & Development
Town Hall
01903 221333
james.appleton@adur-worthing.gov.uk

83

https://planning.adur-worthing.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=N29Z5VCB01W00&activeTab=summary
https://planning.adur-worthing.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=N29Z5VCB01W00&activeTab=summary
https://planning.adur-worthing.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=N29Z5VCB01W00&activeTab=summary


Schedule of Other Matters

1.0 Council Priority

1.1 Promotes economic development and supports the emerging Worthing Local
Plan

2.0 Specific Action Plans

2.1 Facilitates additional employment land in line with the emerging Local Plan.

3.0 Sustainability Issues

3.1 Allows for the expansion of an existing employment site with good sustainable
transport links.

4.0 Equality Issues

4.1 Matter considered and no issues identified

5.0 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

5.1 Matter considered and no issues identified

6.0 Human Rights Issues

6.1 Human Rights issues considered as part of the planning process
(Development Management and Planning Policy)

7.0 Reputation

7.1 Supporting a large employer in the town would enhance the Councils
reputation.]

8.0 Consultations

8.1 The Local Plan allocation of the site was subject to considerable public
consultation as part of the Local Plan process. Representations were
considered by a Government appointed Inspector.

84



9.0 Risk Assessment

9.1 No risks involved with the proposal.

10.0 Health & Safety Issues

10.1 Matter considered and no issues identified

11.0 Procurement Strategy

11.1 Matter considered and no issues identified

12.0 Partnership Working

12.1 Matter considered and no issues identified

85



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: TPO 6 of 2022 Recommendation - Approve

Site: 2 Market Place Worthing BN14 7JP

Proposal: Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order 3 of 2022

Applicant: Worthing Borough
Council

Ward: Tarring Ward

Agent:
Case Officer: Jeremy Sergeant

Not to Scale
Reproduced from OS Mapping with the permission of HMSO © Crown Copyright Licence number LA100024321

87

Agenda Item 9



Proposal, Site and Surroundings

On the 10th August 2022 a Tree Preservation Order (“TPO”) was made on two
trees, one Oak and one Acer (Maple), in the rear garden of 2 Market Place Tarring
Worthing. The order was made following a section 211 Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 application (trees in a Conservation Area) to fell and replace three trees in
the rear garden of the property. So as to retain the trees and have further control
over any works that may be requested in the future the TPO was served.

Relevant Planning History

2022: AWDM/1064/22 - Section 211 Notice under the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 to fell and replace one Silver Birch T1, one Maple tree T2 and one Oak T3
in the West Tarring Conservation Area. Consent was given for the felling and
replacement of the Silver Birch tree on 15/08/2022

Consultations

None received.

Representations

Four representations have been received, two in support of the proposed TPO and
two in objection.

The letters of support suggest that the trees are a benefit to the local amenity of the
area and to its wildlife, and as mature trees they cannot easily be replaced, with new
trees taking many years to achieve the same stature.

There have been two objections to the TPO: one from the owners that state that they
are prepared to retain the trees, but object to their being protected by a Tree
Preservation Order. The owners in their letter acknowledge that as the property is
within the West Tarring Conservation Area, any works to the trees will require Local
Planning Authority consent, but object to them being given protection by a TPO
status. As prior consent would be required either way there is no additional burden or
complication for the tree owners.

The other objection from a nearby neighbour, claims that:

● the trees are too big for their location,
● that their roots could affect the nearby properties,
● the trees create light issues for both 2 Market Place and the adjacent property

of 15 South Street.
● The trees have been allowed to grow without any maintenance, which has led

to some branches being very close to the buildings.
● Additionally the comments are that only the Oak tree should be retained.

88



Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Worthing Core Strategy (2011).

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

The law on Tree Preservation Orders is in Part VIII of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended and in the Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 2012.
Section 192 of the Planning Act 2008 made further amendments to the 1990 Act
which allowed for the transfer of provisions from within existing Tree Preservation
Orders to regulations. Part 6 of the Localism Act 2011 amended section 210 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 concerning time limits for proceedings in
regard to non-compliance with Tree Preservation Order regulations.

LPA’s may make a TPO if it appears to them to be: 'expedient in the interests of
amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in their area'.
Following consultation, an LPA can confirm a TPO either without modification or with
modification.  An LPA may also decide not to confirm a TPO.

Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation areas guidance was published
by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government in March 2014 and explains the
legislation governing Tree Preservation Orders and tree protection in conservation
areas.

Planning Assessment

When considering whether trees should be protected by an Order, Government
Guidance suggests that authorities should assess the amenity value of trees in a
structured and consistent way, taking into account the following criteria:

Visibility
The extent to which the trees or woodlands can be seen by the public will inform the
authority’s assessment of whether the impact on the local environment is significant.
The trees, or at least part of them, should normally be visible from a public place,
such as a road or footpath, or accessible by the public.

Individual, collective and wider impact
Public visibility alone will not be sufficient to warrant an Order. The authority is
advised to also assess the particular importance of an individual tree, of groups of
trees or of woodlands by reference to its or their characteristics including:

● size and form;
● future potential as an amenity;
● rarity, cultural or historic value;

89

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/notes/division/6/54/14
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/6
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/6


● contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and
● contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area.

Other factors
Where relevant to an assessment of the amenity value of trees or woodlands,
authorities may consider taking into account other factors, such as importance to
nature conservation or response to climate change. These factors alone would not
warrant making an Order.

In this case it is considered that the trees are visually prominent and contribute to the
wider townscape and character of the Conservation Area. The trees are medium to
large (early) mature Oak and a Maple tree growing in the rear garden. The trees are
described as:

Oak T1
This tree is located nearest to the southwest corner of the rear garden. The tree has
a single stem to 2.5 metres, where a large secondary stem emerges, that angles
outward to the east. The central stem persists to 5 metres, where it then divides into
two: a stem to the Southeast, the other remaining upright and mostly persisting to
within 1 to 2 metres of the top. The main crown is dense and wide spread with some
slightly over extended laterals.

MapleT2
The Maple tree T2 is growing 2 metres north of the Oak tree, adjacent to the western
boundary wall, which it overhangs into the shared shingle covered parking area for 1
to 3 Market Place. The tree has a single stem to 2.5 metres, where it divides, with a
strong “Y” union into two. The two secondary stems are both upright and each
divides again from 6 metres. The first significant laterals emerge from 4 metres. The
main crown is dense and wide spread.

The Tree Prevention Order is to ensure that the trees are retained and that any
works can be controlled by the Local Planning Authority. In the interests of the local
amenity. One of the objections is that there has been little maintenance to the trees,
however a TPO does not prevent maintenance works from being carried out, this
also applies to possible works to allow more light to pass around beneath or filter
through the trees. Furthermore, there has been no evidence provided that the roots
of either tree affect nearby properties. It is recommended that the TPO is confirmed,
therefore, without any modifications.

Recommendation

That Worthing Tree Preservation Order Number 6 of 2022 be confirmed as
made.

90



AWDM 1064-22 2 Market Pl Tarring Oak T1 & Maple T2 from Priory Cl

AWDM 1064-22 2 Market Pl Tarring Oak T1 & Maple T2 from South
Street

91



AWDM 1064-22 2 Market Pl Tarring  Oak T1 & Maple T2 lower crowns (and
Silver Birch not on TPO)

92



Worthing Planning Committee
14 December 2022
Agenda Item no.10

Ward: All

Worthing Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021-2022

Report by the Director for Economy

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report presents a brief summary of the Worthing Annual Infrastructure
Funding Statement, IFS (attached as Appendix I) for the 2021-22 monitoring
year. The latest version of the IFS has been prepared by officers and is
published on the Council website;

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning-policy/worthing/worthing-developer
-contributions/developer-contributions-data-worthing/#infrastructure-funding-st
atement

2.0 Background

2.1 Any local authority that has received developer contributions (section 106
planning obligations or Community Infrastructure Levy) must publish an
Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) online by 31st December 2020, and by
31st December each year thereafter. The IFS must cover the previous
financial year from 1st April to 31st March.

2.2 The Infrastructure Funding Statement must consist of:

● The infrastructure list: a report on the infrastructure projects (or types of
infrastructure) which the charging authority intends may be wholly or
partly funded by the Community Infrastructure Levy, CIL (drawing on
information included in the Infrastructure Investment Plan)

● A CIL report: a report relating to the previous financial year on the
Community Infrastructure Levy

93

Agenda Item 10

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning-policy/worthing/worthing-developer-contributions/developer-contributions-data-worthing/#infrastructure-funding-statement
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning-policy/worthing/worthing-developer-contributions/developer-contributions-data-worthing/#infrastructure-funding-statement
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning-policy/worthing/worthing-developer-contributions/developer-contributions-data-worthing/#infrastructure-funding-statement


● A section 106 report: a report relating to the previous financial year on
section 106 planning obligations

2.3 Prior to 2020, reporting of section 106 contributions and CIL receipts have
been reported in the Annual Monitoring Report (Worthing).

2.4 There is also a requirement for West Sussex County Council (WSCC) to
publish an IFS relating to contributions which they have received and spent in
the last monitoring year. Some of these contributions will also be relevant to
Adur, but were paid to WSCC to spend. As yet the WSCC IFS has not been
published but it will be published here:

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/se
ction-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement

2.5 Unfortunately the WSCC IFS does not have a summary of the s106
contributions held for Worthing and in future years we have requested WSCC
to provide a summary for inclusion in Worthing’s IFS.

3.0 Proposals

3.1 The IFS is attached at Appendix I and provides a useful summary for
Members, as well as members of the public, on the CIL receipts and
expenditure, obligations contained within section 106 (s106) agreements
within the last monitoring year, as well as a summary of the funds received
from developers and spent on infrastructure projects within Worthing Borough.

3.2 Page 40 of the IFS outlines the amount of s106 receipts which have been
received by the Council and not yet spent. Often when s106 funding is
received in smaller amounts, the Council will combine these contributions over
time to invest in larger projects which have a greater impact on the
community.

3.3 There are a number of Case Studies in the document which detail where CIL
and s106 money has been allocated to or spent during the monitoring year.

4.0 Legal

4.1 Regulation 121A of the CIL Regulations (as amended in 2019) outlines the
requirements of publishing an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement and
what must be included.

94

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement


5.0 Financial implications

5.1 CIL receipts are received by the Council to offset the infrastructure impacts
that arise from development in an area. The CIL Regulations (as amended)
prescribe how these should be spent.

5.2 S106 receipts are received by the Council to provide infrastructure that was
not able to be provided on-site where the development took place. The
individual s106 agreement usually prescribes how and by when this money
should be spent.

6.0 Recommendation

6.1 It is recommended that:

i)  Committee notes the IFS attached at Appendix I.

Local Government Act 1972
Background Papers:

CIL Regulations (as amended)

Contact Officer:

David Attmore
Community Infrastructure Officer
Worthing Town Hall
Tel: 01903 221493
david.attmore@adur-worthing.gov.uk

95



Schedule of Other Matters

1.0 Council Priority

1.1 Platforms For Our Places: Links to 1.10 Planning and Land Use supporting
Prosperous Places, and the other platforms

2.0 Specific Action Plans

2.1 The IFS includes details on the work undertaken by the Council to continue
investment in infrastructure projects in Worthing, as mentioned in the Core
Strategy and the Emerging Worthing Local Plan.

3.0 Sustainability Issues

3.1 No issues identified

4.0 Equality Issues

4.1 No issues identified

5.0 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

5.1 No issues identified

6.0 Human Rights Issues

6.1 No issues identified

7.0 Reputation

7.1 The IFS is aimed to increase the transparency of local authorities who receive
developer contributions to fund the necessary infrastructure improvements in
their area.

8.0 Consultations

8.1 None undertaken

9.0 Risk Assessment

96



9.1 The IFS is a requirement of the CIL Regulations (as amended).

10.0 Health & Safety Issues

10.1 No issues identified

11.0 Procurement Strategy

11.1 No procurement undertaken

12.0 Partnership Working

12.1 Officers engage regularly with West Sussex County Council and developers
regarding the monitoring of section 106 agreements.

97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

WORTHING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) 

 

2021 – 2022 

 

 

 

 

November 2022 

 

 

99



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

2 

[THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  

100



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 3 

 
Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Community Infrastructure Levy ...................................................................................... 6 

Section 106 Planning Obligations .................................................................................. 7 

Section 278 Highways Agreements................................................................................ 8 

The infrastructure list ......................................................................................................... 9 

Infrastructure needs of the Borough .............................................................................. 9 

Anticipated funding from CIL ......................................................................................... 9 

How the authority will use CIL contributions .............................................................. 10 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) report ................................................................... 13 

CIL receipts .................................................................................................................... 14 

CIL expenditure ............................................................................................................. 16 

CIL allocations ............................................................................................................... 17 

CIL Neighbourhood Fund ............................................................................................. 18 

Total amount of CIL retained ........................................................................................ 23 

CIL funded projects - Case Studies.............................................................................. 24 

Section 106 report ............................................................................................................. 26 

Monetary contributions agreed .................................................................................... 27 

Non-monetary contributions agreed ............................................................................ 31 

Case Study - HMRC, Barrington Road Development ............................................... 32 

S106 received ................................................................................................................ 33 

S106 allocated and unspent ......................................................................................... 36 

S106 spent ..................................................................................................................... 37 

S106 retained ................................................................................................................. 40 

S106 funded projects – Case Studies .......................................................................... 42 

Open Space and Leisure – Palatine Park 3G Pitch .................................................. 42 

Affordable Housing – Bayside provision ................................................................. 42 

 

  

CONTENTS 

101



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

4 

[THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  

102



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 5 

Introduction 
 

The Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) is an annual report typically published in 

December, which provides a summary of all financial and non-financial developer 

contributions relating to section 106 legal agreements (s106) and the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) within Worthing Borough1 for a given monitoring year.  The first 

infrastructure funding statement had to be published by 31st December 2020, with subsequent 

statements published at least annually thereafter.  This annual report reflects the monitoring 

year from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.  

Following a brief overview of developer contributions, the first section of the IFS includes a 

statement of infrastructure projects that Worthing Borough Council intends to be, or may be, 

wholly or partly funded by CIL.  The statement then provides further details on CIL and then 

s106 planning obligations for the monitoring year. 

 

Figure 1: Map of Worthing Borough 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 Excluding the area covered by the South Downs National Park – that area is covered by the SDNP 
Infrastructure Funding Statement 

103



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

6 

Throughout the IFS there will be references to the following definitions: 

 Agreed – Contributions that have been agreed within a signed legal document.  These 

contributions have not been collected or delivered and if the planning applications are 

not implemented they will never be received 

 Secured - Contributions which have been ‘triggered’ in accordance with the signed 

legal agreement 

 Received/collected – Contributions received, either non-monetary or monetary, by 

Worthing Borough Council (WBC) 

 Transferred – Contributions received that have been received by WBC and 

transferred to another agency (e.g. West Sussex County Council) 

 Allocated – Contributions that have been received by WBC and committed to specific 

projects 

 Spent/delivered – Monetary or non-monetary contributions that have been spent on 

specific infrastructure projects, or used to deliver infrastructure projects 

 The monitoring year 2021/22 (the last monitoring year) - this refers to the period 

01/04/2021 – 31/03/2022 

 CIL Regulations – this refers to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

(as amended) 

 

The government published a Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill in May 2022 which includes 

plans to partially replace the current developer contributions (s106 and CIL) with a new 

‘infrastructure levy’.  If implemented, this would be the means by which developers would 

contribute towards the cost of the additional infrastructure needs to the local area caused by 

the development.  Until such a time that it is in place, the Council has an obligation to report 

on planning obligations for the last monitoring year.  

 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a fixed, tariff-based planning charge, which allows 

Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to require developers to pay a levy on liable development 

(per square metre).  CIL is designed to recognise the costs in providing infrastructure to 

support the cumulative impact on infrastructure from development.  It is a mechanism to 

secure financial contributions from developers on certain viable developments and CIL monies 

can be used to fund the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 

infrastructure to support the development of the area. 

LPAs can determine whether or not to introduce the levy and the rates used for different 

development types, informed by viability of development in the area.  CIL Rates must be set 

out via a published charging schedule.  Worthing Borough Council (WBC) has been charging 

CIL on liable new development, detailed in the WBC CIL Charging Schedule, which have been 

granted planning permission from the 1st October 2015.  

Given the need to keep the CIL charging schedule up-to-date and to reflect changing market 

conditions, Worthing Borough Council undertook a review of the CIL charging schedule.  The 

CIL Review undertaken by our consultants considered there to be justification to revise the 

current approach to CIL in the borough.  The recommendations of the review suggested a 

104



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 7 

possible revised CIL draft charging schedule (DCS).  WBC consulted on the revised CIL draft 

charging schedule between Tuesday 30th June and Tuesday 25th August 2020.  The Council 

submitted the revised draft charging schedule for examination in October 2020. The 

Examination was held ‘virtually’ on Thursday 28th January 2021.  WBC received the 

Inspector’s Report in May 2021 which recommended approval of the revised CIL charging 

schedule.  It was approved by the Council in July 2021 and it was implemented on 1st August 

2021.  

More information on the examination can be found on the Worthing CIL Examination 2020 

webpage. 

The CIL Regulations state that CIL receipts may be allocated in the following proportions: 

● 80% for the strategic infrastructure needs of the Borough 

● 15% for Neighbourhood funding 

● 5% for the cost of administering CIL 

 

More information on the community infrastructure levy is available on the Council’s website. 

 

Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 

Planning obligations under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) are commonly known as section 106 (s106) agreements.  S106 contributions can 

either be provided on-site, for example through the provision of affordable housing, or off-site 

in the form of financial payments.  Obligations can only be sought where they are directly 

related to the development, fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development, 

and necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, in accordance with 

Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations (as amended).  S106 agreements should be focused 

on addressing the specific mitigation required by a new development, whereas CIL has been 

developed to address the broader impacts of development.  For a number of reasons 

developers do not implement all planning permissions and therefore if a planning permission 

lapses, the associated section 106 agreement will not be implemented. 

Financial planning obligations contained in an s106 agreement tend to include details on the 

specific purpose the money can be spent on.  A timeframe for the spend of s106 funds is often 

set in the agreement, meaning that the LPA will have to pay back any unspent financial 

contributions at the end of the timeframe.  County Council contributions, for the provision of 

services such as education, highways, fire and libraries will be collected by West Sussex 

County Council (WSCC).  Contributions relating to WSCC will not be reported on in this IFS, 

but can be found in the IFS produced by WSCC; 

www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-

obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement 

 

 

 

105

http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil-examination/
http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil-examination/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

8 

Section 278 Highways Agreements 
 

Additional legal agreements that can fund infrastructure are section 278 Agreements (s278).  

These are legally binding agreements made under the Highways Act 1990 between Local 

Highway Authorities and Developers.  S278 agreements are required to secure alterations or 

improvements to the highway.  The works may include minor highway realignments, 

roundabouts, traffic signals, passing bays etc.  Contributions towards mitigation on the 

Strategic Road Network by individuals or groups of developments are dealt with via section 

278 of the Highways Act 1980, not via CIL or s106.  Information on section 278 highways 

agreements can be found on the West Sussex County Council (WSCC) webpage; 

www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/road-agreements/ 

 

It has been agreed that WSCC will report on the section 278 agreements entered into in 

Worthing in their Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS): 

www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-

obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement  

106

http://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/road-agreements/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 9 

The infrastructure list 
 

Infrastructure needs of the Borough 
 

The infrastructure needs of the Borough are outlined in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  

The latest version of which is available on the Council’s website. 

Whilst there are a large number of infrastructure needs within Worthing to support growth, in 

the main, these are not strategic in nature.  It is also known that developer contributions, whilst 

helping to fund the infrastructure needs of Worthing, will not be able to cover all the costs and 

therefore certain infrastructure projects will have to be prioritised.  Additional funding for 

infrastructure projects will be needed from additional sources. 

 

Anticipated funding from CIL 
 

The figures set out in the receipts trajectory table below are based on a number of assumptions 

(set out below).  It represents a running total that assumes ‘no spend’.  The table is included 

as an appendix in the Infrastructure Investment Plan (IIP) and will be updated and revised in 

future iterations of the IIP, particularly once money has been allocated to priority projects.  

These projections are based on a number of assumptions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107

http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/planning-policy/worthing/worthing-developer-contributions/worthing-infrastructure/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

10 

Table 1: Anticipated CIL receipts trajectory (April 2022) 

Monitoring 

Year 

Total CIL 

receipts 

Strategic Pot 

(70%) 

Neighbourhood 

Pot (15%) 

‘Other 

Services’ 

Pot (10%) 

Admin Pot 

(5%) 

Carried f/wd £2,560,000 £1,803,000 £381,000 £302,000 £74,000 

2022/23 £4,017,000 £2,822,900 £599,550 £447,700 £146,850 

2023/24 £5,023,000 £3,527,100 £750,450 £548,300 £197,150 

2024/25 £8,811,000 £6,178,700 £1,318,650 £927,100 £386,550 

2025/26 £12,813,000 £8,980,100 £1,918,950 £1,327,300 £586,650 

2026/27 £14,064,000 £9,855,800 £2,106,600 £1,452,400 £649,200 

2027/28 £15,237,000 £10,676,900 £2,282,550 £1,569,700 £707,850 

2028/29 £15,777,000 £11,054,900 £2,363,550 £1,623,700 £734,850 

     

 

How the authority will use CIL contributions 
 

Worthing Borough Council has produced an Infrastructure Investment Plan (IIP) which will 

focus on which projects should be prioritised to receive funding from the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The IIP prioritises infrastructure via a three year rolling programme, 

which is updated each year to reflect the most up-to-date housing trajectory and infrastructure 

requirements across the plan area. 

The ‘strategic pot’ (80% of all CIL funds collected) forms the main focus of the IIP.  For clarity, 

Worthing Borough Council (WBC) has agreed to ‘top slice’ this proportion, so that 70% of all 

CIL money received is spent on Worthing Borough Council and West Sussex County Council 

(WSCC) projects.  The remaining receipts (10% of total CIL money collected) is allocated to 

‘other service providers’ (such as NHS partners, Police, Ambulance Trust) once that part of 

the ‘pot’ has reached £100,000. 

The greatest single priority of both WBC and WSCC is responding to the impacts of climate 

change whilst at the same time managing and supporting growth.  Informed by this 

overarching objective, for the 3-year period 2020-2023, two main ‘themes’ have been identified 

to be the focus for infrastructure funding from the CIL strategic pot (70% of total CIL), these 

are ‘A Healthy Town Centre’ and ‘Managing Strategic Growth’. 

108

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/spending-cil/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 11 

A wide range of infrastructure projects come under the two themes above.  However, to 

achieve the most significant impact it has been agreed by the Joint Officer Member Board 

(JOMB) that the CIL money collected should be used to fund ‘large’ infrastructure projects that 

provide a clear and tangible range of benefits to the town and the people who use it.  The 

projects listed below have been identified as key infrastructure projects to be delivered during 

the remainder of the 3-year period 2020-2023: 

● Railway Approach to town centre public realm scheme: The recent approval for the 

redevelopment of Teville Gate House to provide a new 5 storey office accommodating 

800 staff and the current proposals for the redevelopment of Teville Gate for 370 

homes, hotel, retail and commercial floorspace provides an opportunity to deliver 

significant improvements to the public realm from the railway station through Teville 

Gate (Station Square) and into the town centre. 

● South Street public realm scheme: The main route into the town centre and seafront 

finishes in South Street and feasibility work has assessed 3 options for enhancing both 

the north and south end of the street to enhance the primary shopping areas and 

gateway to the pier and seafront. 

● Portland Road public realm scheme: As well as the main access into the town centre 

(via Chapel Road/South Street) the public realm strategy has identified Portland Road 

as a key pedestrian route into the primary retail area of Montague Street and an 

opportunity to provide a shared surface enhancing pedestrian access and assist 

businesses in the area.  The scheme has significant support from retailers and the 

Town Centre Initiative. 

● Montague Place public realm scheme: Montague Place is an important link between 

the shopping street of Montague Street, the Seafront of Marine Parade and Liverpool 

Gardens to the north.  The street serves as a point of access for delivery vehicles to 

the retail area.  

● Delivery of public Wi-Fi to the town centre and seafront: Worthing is one of 14 areas 

to join CityFibres Gigabit City programme, a £2.5billion investment plan to bring full-

fibre broadband to at least five million homes.  The Council in partnership with the 

County Council has also secured funding to help deliver additional benefits and in 

particular to create public Wi-Fi to support key town centres and the seafront.  

Maximising the digital benefits to the public, businesses and residents is part of an 

integrated approach to promote healthy town centres.  

● Implementation of the Brooklands Masterplan: Brooklands Park is an important area 

of public open space which is identified as a priority area for investment.  It is 

Worthing's largest area of open space and provides an important role in the local 

community providing a wide range of formal and informal recreational activities.  Whilst 

it is anticipated that private sector investment will deliver the formal recreational 

facilities proposed for the site, the provision of a large play area would help to pump 

prime investment into the site and therefore there is a need for a contribution of CIL 

money. 

● Somerset Lakes flood management: These issues are an important concern not only 

to the existing homes that would be affected by flooding, but also the cumulative impact 

of proposed development in the area.  There is need to utilise CIL funds for the 

necessary initial study into the existing dam at Somerset Lakes.  

 

109



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

12 

The table below shows the projects which have been selected to be funded from the ‘Strategic 

pot’ of the CIL income over this three year IIP period (2020-2023), by year the project will 

receive the funding.  Each project is given a unique code in the title to ensure consistency with 

reporting. 

 

Table 2: Infrastructure projects to be funded from the CIL ‘strategic pot’ (2020-23) 

 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 

1st April b/fwd   £1,692,982 

Income    

Estimated CIL income   £1,019,900 

Funds available £1,056,000 £2,003,000 £2,712,882 

Expenditure    

IIP001 – Public Realm 

Enhancements Railway Station 

to the Town Centre: 

I) Railway Approach 
II) South Street  
III) Portland Road 
IV) Montague Place 

 £200,000 £2,300,000 

IIP002 - Public Wi-Fi  for Town 

Centre(s)/ Seafront 
 £110,018 £189,982 

IIP003 – Brooklands Masterplan £62,529   

IIP004 – Somerset Lakes   £50,000 

Total Expenditure £62,529 £310,018 £2,650,000 

    

31st March c/fwd £993,471 £1,692,982 £62,882 

Note - figures for the amount of CIL funding for each project are only estimates at this stage 

as projects are still being developed and costed.  The IIP and progress on the projects would, 

in any event, be reviewed on an annual basis. 

  

110



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 13 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) report 
 

The following information is presented in order to comply with the CIL Regulations (as 

amended 2019) on the reporting of CIL for the monitoring year 2021/22.  It sets out how much 

CIL has been collected, where it has been allocated to and how it has been spent. In the 

monitoring year 2021/22, 28 CIL demand notices were issued (although some supersede 

previously issued demand notices).  The CIL liability does not become due until a demand 

notice has been issued upon commencement of the development.  Most CIL payments must 

be made within 60 days of the issue of a demand notice.  However, some developments will 

meet the criteria to pay the CIL charge in instalments, meaning that some of the CIL receipts 

set out in demand notices in this monitoring year won’t appear as received until future versions 

of the IFS.  

 

Table 3: Overview of CIL receipts and expenditure in 2021/22 

Description Amount Further Information 

The total value of CIL set out in all demand 
notices issued in the 2021/222 (excluding 
demand notices which were 
suspended/superseded)  

£3,408,858.25 Of this, £10,022.05 was 
surcharges which were imposed 
due to breaches of the CIL 
Regulations and £1,111.45 was 
late payment interest accrued. 

The total amount of CIL receipts for 
2021/22 3 

£1,739,013.14 See more in the ‘CIL receipts’ 
section below. 

The total amount of CIL receipts, collected 
by the authority, before 1st April 2021 
which have not been allocated4 

£1,194,098.99 See more in the ‘Total amount of 
CIL retained’ section below. 

The total amount of CIL receipts, collected 
by the authority, before 1st April 2021 
which have been allocated in 2021/225 

£562,590.15 See more in the ‘CIL allocations’ 
section below. 

The total amount of CIL expenditure in 
2021/226 

£238,150.32 This figure includes amount 
spent on admin expenses. 

The total amount of CIL receipts, 
collected since it was introduced, which 
were allocated but not spent in 2021/227 

£450,318.66 See more in the ‘CIL allocations’ 
section below. 

                                                           
2 CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(a) 
3 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(b) 
4 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(c) 
5 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(d) 
6 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(e) 
7 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(f) 

111



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

14 

Note that some of these Demand Notices which were issued in 2021/22 may supersede those 

that were issued in previous financial years and recorded in previous versions of the IFS.  

 

CIL receipts  
 

A total of £1,739,013.14 was received from 21 CIL liable developments in Worthing between 

1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022.  A total of £1,465,402.42 was granted in Self Build relief 

and Social Housing relief during the monitoring year.  A total of £68,702.67 was granted in 

Residential Extension exemption during the monitoring year. 

 

Table 4: Breakdown of WBC CIL receipts in 2021/22 

Ward Planning Ref Address Amount received 

Central AWDM/0240/20 42 - 46 Teville Road £26,549.00 

AWDM/0679/19 60 Station Road £19,414.29 

AWDM/0906/20 19 - 23 South Street £23,923.47 

AWDM/1020/20 15 Shelley Road £4,518.76 

AWDM/1375/19 38 South Street £9,008.53 

AWDM/1633/16 The Aquarena, Brighton 
Road 

£377,158.72 

Durrington AWDM/0100/20 87 Burnham Road £12,471.72 

AWDM/2045/20 Durrington New Life Church, 
113 Salvington Road 

£22,401.00 

Heene AWDM/0456/16 10 Byron Road £10,038.29 

Marine AWDM/0002/19 23 Eirene Road £30,213.95 

AWDM/0255/21 Winchelsea, 1 - 3 
Winchelsea Gardens 

£2,481.43 

AWDM/0879/18 Land South Of 6 Grand 
Avenue, West Parade 

£228,134.88 

AWDM/1827/19 Roshni, 19 Reigate Road £352.05 

Northbrook AWDM/0166/20 Land Site West Of, Fulbeck 
Avenue 

£214,052.47 

112



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 15 

AWDM/1316/19 Land To The South And East 
And West Of The Coach And 
Horses, Arundel Road 

£203,335.71 

AWDM/1714/19 Land To The South And East 
And West Of The Coach And 
Horses, Arundel Road 

£504,388.28 

Offington AWDM/0436/18 45 First Avenue £13,180.53 

AWDM/0945/18 30 Poulters Lane £4,036.09 

Salvington AWDM/0692/20 The Drive, Mill Lane £12,623.15 

Selden AWDM/1843/21 Brooklands Pleasure Park, 
Brighton Road 

£14,430.89 

Tarring AWDM/2145/20 1A Littlehampton Road £6,299.93 

Total £1,739,013.14 

 

Figure 2: Map showing development sites which have paid CIL in Worthing in 2021/22 

 

 

 

113



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

16 

CIL expenditure  
 

In relation to CIL expenditure for 2021/22, summary details of the CIL which has been spent, 

and the amount of CIL spent on each item8: 

 

i) Amount spent on items of infrastructure  £183,799.06 

 

Table 5: Summary of infrastructure projects receiving CIL funding from Strategic Pot (80%) in 2021/22 

Summary details of items of infrastructure which have 
been received CIL funding from the Strategic Pot (80%) 

Amount of CIL spent 

IIP002 Public WiFi £110,018.07 

IIP003 Brooklands Masterplan £62,527.57 

 

Note that the Infrastructure Investment Plan (IIP) has recently been adopted stating the 

prioritisation of projects to receive CIL funding from the Strategic Pot for the period 2020-2023. 

 

Additional funds have been spent from the CIL Neighbourhood Fund (15%), with details 

available in the ‘CIL Neighbourhood Fund’ section below. 

 

ii) Amount spent on repaying money borrowed £0 

 

Note that no money has been borrowed to finance CIL expenditure. 

 

iii) Amount spent on administration £54,351.26  

 

This is 3.13% of the total amount of CIL collected in the monitoring year 2021/22 and is being 

used towards CIL administration and staff costs. 

 

 

                                                           
8 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(g) 
9 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(i)(ii) 

Amount passed to any person (includes any 3rd party infrastructure 
providers)9 

£0 

114

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/spending-cil/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 17 

CIL allocations 
 

In relation to CIL receipts, which have been collected since it was introduced, and were 

allocated but not spent during 2021/22, below are the summary details of the items of 

infrastructure on which CIL has been allocated, and the amount of CIL allocated to each item10. 

 

Table 6: Summary of infrastructure projects allocated CIL funding in 2021/2211 

CIL Pot Project Amount Allocated Amount Unspent 

Strategic (70%) IIP002 Public WiFi £300,000.00 £189,981.93 

Strategic (70%) IIP001IV Public Realm 
Enhancements Montague 
Place 

£200,000.00 £200,000.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

002/21 Worthing Allotments 
Management 

£5,000.00 £5,000.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

003/21 High Salvington 
Residents Association 

£5,000.00 £531.32 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

005/21 Creative Waves 
Community Arts 

£9,450.00 £9,450.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

006/21 Friends of 
Homefield Park 

£10,000.00 £10,000.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

007/21 Charmandean and 
Area Residents’ Association 

£10,000.00 £10,000.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

008/21 Victoria Park Dog 
Walkers and Volunteers 

£2,474.15 £2,474.15 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

009/21 2nd Durrington Sea 
Scout Group 

£7,500.00 £7,500.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

010/21 Guild Care £8,500.00 £8,500.00 

Neighbourhood 
(15%) 

012/21 Friends of Denton 
Gardens 

£10,000.00 £6,881.26 

 

The projects which have been formally allocated CIL funds from the Strategic Pot (70%) were 

prioritised funding in the Infrastructure Investment Plan (IIP).  The IIP states the prioritisation 

of projects to receive CIL funding for the period 2020-2023. 

2021/22 was the first year that Worthing Borough Council opened up the CIL Neighbourhood 

Fund (15%) to applications for wards which had reached at least £10,000 in the ward pot.  

More details are provided in the ‘CIL Neighbourhood Fund’ section below. 

 

 

  

                                                           
10 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(h) 
11 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(j)(ii) 

115

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/spending-cil/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

18 

CIL Neighbourhood Fund 
 

Regulation 50A of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) states that a charging authority 

must pass to every local council within its area, 15% of CIL receipts to the relevant parish or 

town council.  This increases to 25% of CIL receipts where a neighbourhood development 

plan is in place.  However, as Worthing consists of wards, rather than parishes, Regulation 

59F applies12.  The charging authority has wider spending powers in relation to this area and 

may use the CIL to support the development of the relevant area by funding: 

A. the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure 

B. anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that development places 

on an area 

 

More information on the CIL Neighbourhood Fund in Worthing can be found on the Council’s 

website.  

The total collected by Worthing Borough Council for the reported year under Regulation 59E 

was £0.00 and under Regulation 59F, CIL collected and retained by the Charging Authority 

for areas that are not designated Neighbourhood Zones, was £260,720.61. 

 

Summary details of the expenditure of CIL to which regulation 59F applied during 2021/2213: 

i) Amount of expenditure to which regulation 59F applies £11,253.42 

 

Note that of the projects which have been allocated funds from the CIL Neighbourhood Fund, 

only 3 had received the funds in 2021/22.  This is because the CIL funds are transferred across 

to the groups delivering the project at various stages, once the works have commenced or 

completed.  

 

  

                                                           
12 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(i)(i), 1(k)(i) - (ii) are not applicable  
13 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(j) 

116

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/neighbourhood-fund/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/worthing-cil/neighbourhood-fund/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 19 

Table 7: Summary of infrastructure projects receiving CIL neighbourhood funds in 2021/22 

Summary details of items of 
infrastructure which have received 
CIL neighbourhood funding, under 
regulation 59F 

Amount of 
CIL 
expenditure 

Spend Description 

001/21 Worthing West District Guides £3,666.00 Replace fascia boards, soffits 
and guttering to the District 
Guide Hall 

003/21 High Salvington Residents 
Association 

£4,468.68 Placing Speed Detection 
Devices on Salvington Hill 

012/21 Friends of Denton Gardens £3,118.74 Deposit for commemorative 
stone and purchase of timber 

 

2021/22 was the first round of funding for the CIL Neighbourhood Fund (15%).  Six wards met 

the £10,000 threshold in April 2021 which meant that funds were made available to groups: 

Central; Durrington; Marine; Offington; Salvington; Tarring.  A total of 12 applications were 

received during the application process and, of these, ten community groups have been 

awarded CIL Neighbourhood Funds totalling nearly £72,000.  The Council has provided 

feedback to the applicants who were not successful and, providing they address the points 

raised, they are encouraged to submit their revised proposals as part of a future annual 

funding process. 

The amount of CIL that has been collected and is available in each neighbourhood pot (15% 

of all CIL funds), at the end of the 2021/22 monitoring year, is shown in the table below. 

 

  

117



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

20 

Table 8: Amount of CIL funds available in each ward of the Neighbourhood Pot (15%) at the end of 
2021/22 

Ward Amount 
received in 
n’hood pot in 
2021/22 

Funds carried 
over from 
previous years14 

Expenditure / 
Allocations for 
the reported 
year 

Available funds 
at the end of 
reported year 

Central £69,085.92 £105,562.28 £40,424.15 £134,224.05 

Durrington £5,230.91 £21,258.37 £7,500.00 £18,989.28 

Goring £0.00 £8,771.77 £0.00 £8,771.77 

Heene £1,374.38 £4,009.75 £0.00 £5,384.13 

Marine £39,177.35 £14,094.48 £0.00 £53,271.83 

Northbrook £138,266.47 £1,290.00 £0.00 £139,556.47 

Offington £2,582.49 £15,007.88 £10,000.00 £7,590.37 

Salvington £1,893.47 £10,678.77 £5,000.00 £7,572.24 

Selden £2,164.63 £0.00 £0.00 £2,164.63 

Tarring £944.99  £11,177.40 £8,666.00 £3,456.39 

Total £260,720.61 £191,850.70 £71,590.15 £380,981.16 

 

                                                           
14 Please note these figures may be slightly different from previous versions of the IFS, due to accounting 
corrections with regards to CIL Neighbourhood zone allocations 

118



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 21 

Figure 3: Amount of CIL funds available in each ward of the Neighbourhood Fund (15%) at the end of 
2021/22 

 

 

It should be noted that Worthing previously had four wards, forming Zone 2, which had a £0 

residential CIL charge in the original CIL Charging Schedule; Broadwater, Castle, Selden, 

Gaisford (see below).  However, in August 2021 the Council implemented a revised CIL 

Charging Schedule, which contains revised CIL residential rates, and removes the four £0 

wards.  Therefore, it is likely that CIL receipts will now start to be collected over the next few 

years in those four wards. 

 

119



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

22 

Figure 4: Worthing CIL residential charging zones by ward (original Worthing CIL charging schedule)  

 

 

  

120



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 23 

Total amount of CIL retained 
 

Table 9: Amount of CIL funds retained by WBC at the end of 2021/22 

Description Amount Further Information 

The total amount of CIL receipts for 
2021/22 retained at the end of the 
reported year (excluding those to 
which regulation 59F applied)15 

£1,251,395.61 The Infrastructure Investment 
Plan (IIP) has been adopted 
stating the prioritisation of 
projects to receive ‘strategic’ CIL 
funding for the period 2020-2023. 

The total amount of CIL receipts from 
previous years retained at the end of 
2021/22 (excluding those to which 
regulation 59F applied)16 

£1,013,501.71 The Infrastructure Investment 
Plan (IIP) has been adopted 
stating the prioritisation of 
projects to receive ‘strategic’ CIL 
funding for the period 2020-2023. 

The total amount of CIL receipts for 
2021/22, to which regulation 59F 
applied, retained at the end of the 
reported year17 

£260,720.61 The authority launched the first 
round of bids for the ‘CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund (15%)’ in 
2021. 

The total amount of CIL receipts from 
previous years, to which regulation 
59F applied, retained at the end of the 
reported year 

£180,597.28 The authority launched the first 
round of bids for the ‘CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund (15%)’ in 
2021. 

 

 

  

                                                           
15 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(l)(i) 
16 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(l)(ii) 
17 Schedule 2, Paragraph 1(l)(iii) 

121



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

24 

CIL funded projects - Case Studies 
 

Below are case studies of some of the infrastructure projects which have received or been 

allocated Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funds. 

 

CIL Strategic Pot – Public WiFi 

Worthing is one of 14 areas to join CityFibres Gigabit City programme, a £2.5billion investment 

plan to bring full-fibre broadband to at least five million homes.  The Council in partnership 

with the County Council has also secured funding to help deliver additional benefits and in 

particular to create public Wi-Fi to support key town centres and the seafront.  Maximising the 

digital benefits to the public, businesses and residents is part of an integrated approach to 

promote healthy town centres, which is a key theme used for the prioritisation of CIL Strategic 

spending. 

A total of £300,000 of CIL funds from the Strategic Pot (70%) has been allocated towards this 

project, with just over £110,000 spent in 2021/2022.  This investment has been used to make 

significant enhancements to the IT infrastructure, helping to create a super modern IT network 

which is being deployed across publicly accessible council buildings, theatres and museums 

across Worthing over the next year. 

The new infrastructure will replace and extend the existing WiFi and make is easier for 

members of the public to access the service, as well as it being more resilience, robust, secure 

and reliable.  Some of the sites that will benefit include: Worthing Town Hall; Worthing 

Museum; Connaught Theatre; Highdown Gardens; Colonnade House; and The Beach Office. 

 

CIL Neighbourhood Fund – Friends of Denton Gardens 

The Friends of Denton Gardens group has been allocated £10,000 

CIL Neighbourhood Funding to replace the pergola in Denton 

Gardens, install 2 lion end benches, improve the planting along the 

walkways and install a commemorative stone to mark the 

centenary of the land being gifted to the Town by Alderman 

Denton.  

2022 marks the centenary of the gifting of Denton Gardens to the 

people of Worthing by Alderman Denton.  To commemorate the 

centenary, a commemorative stone in a circular area has been 

placed in the sunken garden just before you enter the pergola. 

The sunken garden and pergola are both features of the original 

Gardens, and are important to retain to preserve the historic character of the Gardens.  The 

existing pergola, however, was completely overgrown, and the footings of the upright supports 

were rotten.  The first aspect of the plan was to completely remove the old pergola, and for 

longevity to replace it with a new oak version.  2 new Worthing Borough Council standard lion 

end benches facing south on the walkways are to be installed, to encourage people to sit and 

relax and enjoy the vista across the gardens towards the sea.  

This project supports the Council’s stated commitment to creating a healthy town centre by 

creating ‘good quality public realm’ to create environments that people want to live and work 

122



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 25 

in. Denton Gardens is a highly valued quiet green space in Worthing town centre.  This project 

will help to improve the visual quality of this public space. It will give the community, as well 

as visitors to the town, a much improved space in which to walk, enjoy the flora and fauna, sit, 

meet and exercise, all of which have proven positive benefits for health and well-being; while 

the commemorative aspect adds to a sense of civic pride and belonging, as well as visitor 

interest.  

  

123



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

26 

Section 106 report 
 

The following information is presented in order to comply with the CIL Regulations (as 

amended in 2019) on the reporting of section 106 Agreements (s106) for the monitoring year 

2021/22.  It sets out how much s106 has been collected, where it has been allocated to and 

how it has been spent. It includes both monetary and non-monetary contributions.  Please 

note that education, libraries, fire and some transport contributions are paid to and are 

spent by West Sussex County Council (WSCC) and are therefore not included in this 

report. This information can be found here.  

 

Table 10: Overview of section 106 contributions agreed, received and spent in 2021/22 

Description Amount Further Information 

Total amount of money which may be 
provided under any planning 
obligations which were entered into 
during 2021/2218 

£478,564.47 The monies are not a guaranteed 
income source and should 
therefore not be relied upon for 
forecasting purposes as the 
payment is contingent upon 
relevant triggers set out in the 
section 106 agreement. 

The total number of affordable 
housing units agreed under any 
planning obligations which were 
entered into during 2021/22 

At least 66 
affordable 
housing units19 

These will be secured and 
delivered at agreed points before, 
during or after the completion of 
the relevant developments. 

Total amount of money under any 
planning obligations which was 
received during 2021/2220 

£2,499,429.13 Details are set out in the ‘S106 
received’ section below. 

Total amount of money under any 
planning obligations which was 
received before 2021/22 which has 
not been allocated21 

£813,687.53 Over £550,000 is required to be 
used to deliver transport or 
highways projects – but is waiting 
to be formally ‘allocated’ for 
spending or passed on to an 
infrastructure provider. 

Total amount of money under any 
planning obligations which was 
allocated, but not spent, in 2021/2222 

£17,391.00 Details are set out in the ‘S106 
allocated and unspent’ section 
below. 

Total amount of money (received 
under any planning obligations) which 
was spent by the authority in 

£576,058.85 This includes transferring it to 
another body to spend (e.g. West 
Sussex County Council). 

                                                           
18 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(a) 
19 Additional units are subject to securing Grant Funding 
20 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(b) 
21 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(c) 
22 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(e) 

124

http://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/information-for-developers/section-106-planning-obligations/#infrastructure-funding-statement


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 27 

2021/2223  

Total amount of money received 
(under any planning obligations) 
during any monitoring year which was 
retained at the end of 2021/22 

£3,254,395.60 Of this amount, nearly £240,000 
has been ‘allocated’ to 
infrastructure projects.  

 

 

Monetary contributions agreed 
 

In the monitoring year 2021/22: 

 792 applications were determined, of which 11 were major applications.  

 Seven applications contained a signed section 106 agreement (including one 

Supplemental Agreement)  

 This is an increase from the three section 106 agreements signed in 2020/21 

 

Table 11: Details of monetary contributions included in section 106 agreements entered into by WBC in 
2021/22 

Planning Ref Site Address Date of 
s106 

Contribution Purpose of 
contribution 

AWDM/1979/19 Hm Revenues 
And Customs, 
Barrington 
Road 

28/04/2021 Conditional 
Contribution 

Affordable Housing in 
lieu payment 

Conditional 
Contribution 

Air Quality  

£80,000.00 Improvement of medical 
facilities at the Strand 
Medical Practice or 
Durrington Health 
Centre or at other 
medical facilities within 
the Wards 

Conditional 
Contribution 

Play Area Maintenance 

£50,000.00 Provision of public open 
space and/or recreation 
works and/or works of 
improvement in the 

                                                           
23 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(f) 

125



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

28 

Goring, Northbrook, 
Castle, Marine or 
Durrington 

£20,000.00 Station Access 
Feasibility Study 

AWDM/1914/19 35 - 39 South 
Street 

22/07/2021 £48,744.00 Affordable Housing in 
lieu payment 

£300.00 S106 Monitoring Fee 

AWDM/0166/20 Land Site 
West Of, 
Fulbeck 
Avenue, 
Northbrook 

29/07/2021 Conditional 
Contribution 

Affordable Housing in 
lieu payment 

£11,471.00 Air quality monitoring 
and/or air quality 
improvement measures 

£9,338.00 Provision or 
improvement of 
allotment facilities in 
Northbrook ward 

£1,118.41 Off-Site Reptile 
Receptor Site 
Management 

£20,000.00 Off-Site Biodiversity 
Enhancements 

£14,338.00 Provision, upgrading or 
replacement of 
equipment or facilities 
for youth recreation at 
either Bourne Close 
Playground or Longcroft 
Park, Northbrook 

£2,100.00 S106 Monitoring Fee 

£3,500.00 Monitoring the 
implementation of and 
compliance with the 
Travel Plan 

AWDM/0130/21 22 Lyndhurst 30/07/2021 Conditional Affordable Housing in 

126



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 29 

Road Contribution lieu payment 

Conditional 
Contribution 

Provision of Open 
Space in the ward 

AWDM/1018/20 Development 
Site At 31 To 
35, Montague 
Street 

07/09/2021 £203,553.00 Affordable Housing in 
lieu payment 

£14,102.00 Provision of public open 
space and/or recreation 
works and/or works of 
improvement in the 
Wards 

 

During the last monitoring year: 

 A total of up to £478,564.47 was secured through s106 agreements by WBC 

 Around 53% of the monetary contributions secured relate to affordable housing 

provision 

 

The graph below indicates the amount of money secured through s106 agreements by WBC 

in previous years24. 

                                                           
24 Note that some of the contributions may appear in multiple years where agreements have been varied 

under a Deed of Variation is subsequent years 

127



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

30 

Figure 5: Total value of section 106 financial contributions included in agreements entered into by WBC 
in each monitoring year 

 

  

128



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 31 

Non-monetary contributions agreed 
 

The table below sets out the non-financial contributions which have been included in s106 

agreements entered into during 2021/2225.  These will be secured and delivered at agreed 

points before, during or after the completion of the relevant developments. 

 

Table 12: Details of non-financial contributions included in section 106 agreements entered into by WBC 
during 2021/22 

Planning Ref Site Address Date of 
s106 

Contributi
on 

Details 

AWDM/1979/19 Hm 
Revenues 
And Customs, 
Barrington 
Road 

28/04/2021 At least 20 
AH units 

Subject to securing 
Homes England Funding 
or Public Sector Grant 
Funding. To be provided 
on-site 

Car Club 3 car club cars to be 
provided as part of the 
Development 

Play Area Combined LEAP and LAP 
to be provided as part of 
the Development 

AWDM/0166/20 Land Site 
West Of, 
Fulbeck 
Avenue, 
Northbrook 

29/07/2021 46 AH units 32 at Affordable Rent and 
14 Shared Ownership. To 
be provided on-site 

Car Club 2 car club vehicles  

AWDM/1018/20 Development 
Site At 31 To 
35, Montague 
Street 

07/09/2021 Public Art Installation to be provided 
on the western wall of the 
Site 

 

Other site or development specific requirements, including net proceeds of sale, occupancy 

restrictions, provision of street furniture, schedule of specific works, highways and general 

estate management matters are not listed within the table above. 

 

  

                                                           
25 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(d)(i) - (ii) 

129



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

32 

Case Study - HMRC, Barrington Road Development 
 

The contributions contained in the s106 agreement for AWDM/1979/19 relate to the outline 

application for a maximum of 287 dwellings as well as a 68-bedroom care home on the site of 

the HM Revenues and Customs building in Barrington Road.  The application was granted in 

April 2021 upon the signing of the s106 agreement.  The proposals see the demolition of the 

existing office blocks and the erection of houses, flats and a care home.  

The Reserved Matters application (AWDM/0605/22) details the plans for 151 apartments and 

135 houses, including 5 wheelchair apartments (excluding plans for the care home).  The 

development also provides 469 parking spaces, EV charging points, cycle parking and public 

open space.  

The s106 agreement includes the provision of at least 20 affordable housing units to be 

provided on site.  The maximum provision of 30% affordable dwellings is dependent on the 

developer securing additional funding.  The mix will include both affordable rent units and 

shared ownership units.  An £80,000 contribution towards the improvement of medical facilities 

at the Strand Medical Practice or Durrington Health Centre (or at other medical facilities within 

the wards) is also included.  Financial contributions are also required towards air quality 

monitoring, off-site open space works, and a station access feasibility study.  The obligation 

to procure the establishment and promotion of a Car Club for the benefit of the occupiers of 

the Dwellings and provide a play area on site were also included in the legal agreement. 

Further contributions are to be made to West Sussex County Council (WSCC), including a 

contribution of £50,000 highways contribution.  As part of the agreement, the developer will 

also provide a footpath and other transport improvements. 

Figure 6: Existing site plan at HMRC, Barrington Road  

 

 

130



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 33 

S106 received 
 

The Council received a total of £2,499,429.13 in s106 financial contributions during 2021/22, 

which came from nine developments.  Around 85% of the contributions received relate to the 

provision of off-site affordable housing in Worthing.  

 

Table 13: Section 106 contributions received by WBC during 2021/22 

Planning Ref Site Address Amount of s106 
received 

Category  

11/0275/OUT West Durrington 
Development, Land 
East Of Titnore Lane 

£243,350.86 Open Space & 
Leisure 

£42,944.27 Open Space & 
Leisure 

31 Affordable 
Housing Units 

Affordable Housing 

AWDM/0166/20 Land Site West Of, 
Fulbeck Avenue 

£11,584.37 Air Quality 

£20,197.66 Environmental 

£1,129.46 Environmental 

£14,479.71 Open Space & 
Leisure 

£9,430.29 Open Space & 
Leisure 

£2,120.75 S106 Monitoring Fee 

AWDM/0178/18 Unit B, Lyons Farm 
Retail Park, Lyons 
Way 

£8,214.00 Air Quality 

AWDM/0303/19 32 - 36 South Street £8,469.33 Affordable Housing 

AWDM/0521/12 Northbrook College, 
Littlehampton Road 

£25,000.00 Open Space & 
Leisure 

AWDM/0764/17 Kingsway Hotel, 117 - £110,967.28 Affordable Housing 

131



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

34 

119 Marine Parade 

AWDM/1633/16 The Aquarena, 
Brighton Road 

£1,948,268.16 Affordable Housing 

20 Affordable 
Housing units 

Affordable Housing 

1 Public Realm 
Scheme 

Open Space & 
Leisure 

AWDM/1882/16 Land To The South 
And East And West 
Of The Coach And 
Horses, Arundel 
Road 

£4,228.99 S106 Monitoring Fee 

AWDM/1914/19 35 - 39 South Street £48,744.00 Affordable Housing 

£300.00 S106 Monitoring Fee 

 

The amount of s106 contributions received vary each year according to the number of 

agreements signed and how many obligations have reached a trigger point for payment. 

 

Figure 7: Total value of section 106 financial contributions received by WBC in each monitoring year 

 

132



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 35 

One possible explanation for the declining s106 receipts over recent years (prior to 2021/22) 

is the introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in Worthing.  The CIL Charging 

Schedule was implemented in October 2015 and as a result, CIL became the dominant means 

for securing financial contributions from development in the Borough, with Planning 

Obligations (section 106 agreements) being scaled back.  S106 agreement continue to play a 

key role in relation to affordable housing and certain site specific requirements. 

The figure for 2021/22 is skewed by the significantly large affordable housing contribution 

received in relation to the development at The Aquarena, Brighton Road, which was a financial 

contribution towards the provision and management of Affordable Dwellings in the Borough of 

Worthing.  Without that contribution, the total s106 receipts would have been just over 

£550,000 which is still below the receipts from 2015/16 and 2016/17. 

The result of the introduction of CIL is that developments permitted from 1st October 2015 

were charged CIL and therefore a lower level of s106 financial contributions could be secured 

from the development.  Overall, the total level of developer contributions received, from both 

CIL and s106, remained relatively level over the first few years of implementation of CIL, as 

seen in the figure below.  

 

Figure 8: Amount of CIL and s106 financial contributions received by WBC in each financial year 

 

The last financial year saw a larger number of developer contributions receipts, which is 

partially attributed to the commencement of development on a number of large strategic sites 

across the borough.  This triggered payment of the first instalments of CIL receipts.  

 

  

133



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

36 

S106 allocated and unspent 
 

The total amount of money received (under any planning obligations) which was allocated but 

not spent during 2021/22 for funding infrastructure was £17,391.0026.  A summary of the 

infrastructure projects and amount of money allocated to it are set out in the table below27.  

The ‘s106 funded projects - Case Studies’ section below includes more information on some 

of the projects which have been allocated or received s106 funds.  

 

Table 14: Summary of infrastructure projects allocated section 106 funds during 2021/2228 

Scheme Allocated to Amount Allocated Further Information 

Windsor Lawns Outdoor 
Fitness Equipment 

£17,391.00 Windsor Lawns Park, The 
Esplanade 

 
 

  

                                                           
26 Some of these funds may have previously been ‘allocated’ to infrastructure projects in previous years, which 
were not brought forward – hence the funds have been reallocated 
27 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(g) 
28 Please note that some of these projects are joint WBC/WSCC projects and therefore may also be recorded in 
the WSCC IFS 

134



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 37 

S106 spent 
 

The total amount of money (received under any planning obligations) which was spent by the 

authority (including transferring it to another body to spend) in 2021/22 was £576,058.85.  

These funds were spent from obligations secured across several monitoring years.  A 

summary of the infrastructure on which money has been spent is set out in the tables below29.  

The ‘s106 funded projects - Case Studies’ section below includes more information on some 

of the projects which have been allocated or received s106 funds.  

 

Table 15: Expenditure of section 106 funds by WBC during 2021/22, by category on infrastructure type 

Category Amount Spent 

Affordable Housing £168,180.61 

Open Space £351,368.24 

Transport and Travel £56,510.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
29 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(h)(i) 

135



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

38 

Table 16: Summary of infrastructure projects receiving section 106 funds during 2021/2230 

Planning Ref Address Category Scheme Amount 
Spent 

06/1344/FULL 10 And 10A Mill 
Road 

Transport 
and Travel 

Transferred to 
WSCC 

£17,680.00 

07/0794/FULL Highdown School, 
Durrington Lane 

Transport 
and Travel 

Transferred to 
WSCC 

£10,400.00 

07/1511/FULL 28 Marine Drive Transport 
and Travel 

Transferred to 
WSCC 

£11,310.00 

09/1055/FULL Hurst Grange, 17 - 
19 Parkfield Road 

Transport 
and Travel 

Transferred to 
WSCC 

£17,120.00 

11/0107/FULL Land At 84-92 
Heene Road 

Open Space 
and Leisure 

Palatine Park Play 
Area 
Improvements 

£13,080.00 

11/0275/OUT West Durrington 
Development, Land 
East Of Titnore 
Lane 

Open Space 
and Leisure 

Palatine Park 3G 
Pitch 

£334,059.25 

AWDM/1882/16 Land To The South 
And East And West 
Of The Coach And 
Horses, Arundel 
Road 

Open Space 
and Leisure 

West Durrington 
Phase 2 Open 
Space Inspections 

£4,228.99 

AWDM/0764/17 Kingsway Hotel, 117 
- 119 Marine Parade 

Affordable 
Housing 

Downview 
Affordable Housing 
Development 

£110,967.28 

AWDM/0303/19 32 - 36 South Street Affordable 
Housing 

Downview 
Affordable Housing 
Development 

£8,469.33 

AWDM/1914/19 35 - 39 South Street Affordable 
Housing 

Downview 
Affordable Housing 
Development 

£48,744.00 

Total £576,058.85 

                                                           
30 Please note that some of these infrastructure projects are delivered by West Sussex County Council (WSCC) 
– therefore the funds may also appear in their IFS 

136



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 39 

Note that these projects received s106 funds between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022, 

however the exact date is not recorded. 

 

ii) Amount of s106 money (received under planning obligations) which 
has been spent on repaying money borrowed, including interest31.  

£0 

 

iii) Amount of s106 money (received under planning obligations) which 
has been spent in respect of monitoring32. 

£0 

 

Figure 9: Total value of section 106 financial contributions spent by WBC in each monitoring year 

 

 

  

                                                           
31 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(h) 
32 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(h) 

137



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

40 

S106 retained 
 

The total amount of s106 money received (under any planning obligations) during any year 

which was retained at the end of 2021/22 was £3,222,395.60.  Of this, £13,000 has been 

retained for the purposes of longer term maintenance (known as a commuted sum)33. 

 

Table 17: Total value of section 106 financial contributions retained by WBC at the end of 2021/22 

Contribution Type Amount of money retained 
and unallocated at the end of 
2021/22 

Amount of money allocated 
but unspent at the end of 
2021/22 

Affordable Housing £1,948,268.16 £0 

Air Quality £22,383.80 £0 

Economic 
Development 

£81,814.07 £0 

Environmental £38,313.97 £0 

Green Infrastructure £0 £8,938.26 

Highways £111,500.00 £34,014.00 

Open Space and 
Leisure 

£321,653.42 £107,719.56 

Other £12,999.31 £0 

Public Art £15,000.00 £0 

S106 Monitoring Fee £2,420.75 £0 

Transport and Travel £460,769.30 £56,601.00 

Total £3,015,122.78 £207,272.82 

 

                                                           
33 Schedule 2, Paragraph 3(i)  

138



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 41 

Figure 10: Amount of s106 financial contributions retained by WBC at end of 2021/22, by category type 

 

 

Often when section 106 funding is received in smaller amounts, the Council will combine these 

contributions over time to invest in larger projects which have a greater impact in the 

community. 

 

  

139



 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 

42 

S106 funded projects – Case Studies 
 

Below are case studies of some of the infrastructure projects which have received or been 

allocated section 106 funds. 

 

Open Space and Leisure – Palatine Park 3G Pitch 
Worthing Borough Council, in partnership with South 

Downs Leisure and Worthing Town FC, have created 

new all-weather football facilities at Palatine Park in 

Palatine Road, Worthing. 

The state-of-the-art pitch cost over £900,000 to 

develop and build, with £340,000 coming from s106 

funds which has been collected from the West 

Durrington Phase 1 development.  The rest of the 

funding came from a Football Foundation grant.  It 

was officially opened in January 2022. 

The full sized, third generation (3G) artificial surface will be used by both local residents via 

pre-arranged gire, and Worthing Town FC which boasts more than 500 players in men’s, 

women’s and youth teams.  

Details on how to book the facilities can be found on the South Downs Leisure website; 

https://www.southdownsleisure.co.uk/palatine-park-football-centre/ 

 

 

Affordable Housing – Bayside provision 
As part of the s106 agreement under the development 

AWDM/1633/16 at The Aquarena, Brighton Road, 

Worthing (now known as Bayside Apartments) there 

contained a number of obligations relating to the provision 

of Affordable Housing on site.  There was an obligation to 

provide 20 units at social rent and 22 units at shared 

ownership (or such other mix) as part of the development 

of 141 residential apartments a commercial unit, Cafe, 

public and private open space. 

The 20 social rented units were completed and handed over to Worthing Homes in 

August/September 2021.  They are made up of 1 studio apartment, 8 one bedroom apartments 

and 11 two bedroom apartments.  These units will help provide much needed affordable 

housing in Worthing.  

The developer was unable to attract a Registered Provider to oversee the proposed shared 

ownership units at the site.  The s106 agreement contained an obligation for a commuted sum 

to be payable in this instance.  A total of almost £2m was paid by the developer and can be 

used by Worthing Borough Council to fund affordable housing units off-site in the borough.  

 

140

https://www.southdownsleisure.co.uk/palatine-park-football-centre/


 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 43 

[THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

 

  

141



 

 

Worthing Borough Council 

Planning Policy 

Worthing Town Hall 

Chapel Road 

Worthing 

West Sussex 

BN11 1HA 

 

 
142


	Agenda
	7 Planning Applications
	Final Item 7 Worthing Agenda 14.12.22 Front Sheet (1)
	1.  NOTICE_0019_22- Carnegie House comments by Legal
	2.  AWDM_0056_22 Former EDF Car Park Southdownview Road CHECKED JA comments by Legal
	3.  AWDM_1433_22 Tesco Durrington CHECKED BY JA checked by Legal
	4.  AWDM_1554_21 -19 Manor Road CHECKED by JA_CP 
	Final Schedule of Other Matters

	8 GlaxoSmithKline, Southdownview Road,  Worthing
	9 Worthing Tree Preservation Order
	10 Worthing Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021-2022
	Worthing Infrastructure Funding Statement 2021-22


